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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

The core downstream customers of the coke industry in which the
Company operates are steel enterprises. During the Reporting Period,
the business environment remained extremely difficult. The real estate
sector continued to undergo significant adjustments, leading to a
substantial decline in new construction starts. The scale of infrastructure
investment did not increase significantly, while steel demand from
the manufacturing sector remained stable with only a slight increase.
However, overall steel consumption showed a downward trend. Faced
with insufficient market demand for steel, steel enterprises generally
adopted production restrictions and reduction measures, resulting in
persistently weak demand for coke, one of the raw materials.

Meanwhile, although the price of coking coal, the primary raw material,
was in a downward trend, the extent of the decline was insufficient to
offset the reduction in profit margin in general in the coke industry. This
led to a severe compression of profit margins for the coking sector. As
an intermediate link in the industrial chain, our industry faced immense
challenges to profitability under dual pressures from both upstream and
downstream sectors.

Despite these challenges, the industry is now undergoing positive
structural changes. Against the backdrop of the state’s ongoing
policy to eliminate outdated coking capacity, outdated production
facilities are being phased out at an accelerated pace. The Company
possesses 7.1-meter large coking ovens, which feature significant
economies of scale, lower energy consumption, excellent environmental
compliance capabilities, and stable product quality. These represent
the significant advantages of advanced production capacity in the
industry. We anticipate that as the supply landscape rebalances due
to the elimination of outdated capacity, the Company will be able to
effectively consolidate and increase its market share by leveraging these
advantages.

Furthermore, the Chinese government has introduced a series of
economic stimulus policies and is expected to continue improving
support, aiming to promote stability and recovery in the real estate
and infrastructure sectors. The Company expects to benefit from the
macroeconomic recovery trend and seize growth opportunities through
its core competitive strengths.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

However, during the Reporting Period, our partner Shanxi Jinyan
Energy Technology Co., Ltd.* (LLFE&=REREI BRAE) (‘Energy
Technology”) faced significant challenges. While needing to meet
its own operational requirements in a sluggish market environment,
it also had to fund the construction of coke production supporting
facilities. Relying solely on its own profitability, it struggled to sustain its
rolling development. Moreover, the slow progress in supporting facility
construction has severely impacted the commissioning timeline of the
Company’s coking oven assets. Energy Technology has been actively
engaged in financing arrangements with major financial institutions,
hoping to complete all supporting facility construction using financing
funds. Unfortunately, due to persistent weakness in the coke market
and the broader industry downturn which has increased the difficulty
of securing financing, Energy Technology’s financing had not yet been
finalised during the Reporting Period. As a result, the Company’s coking
ovens have not yet officially commenced operation.

The Company has maintained communication and actively
urged progress with Energy Technology. According to the latest
communication with Energy Technology’s management, 90% of the
infrastructure for the supporting facility has been completed. The
remaining tasks mainly involve securing the final payment to acquire the
equipment, followed by installation, integration, and commissioning on-
site.

According to Energy Technology’s management, its group has signed
a legally binding financing framework agreement with a subsidiary
of a national-level financial institution. All preparatory work is now
complete, and the first tranche of funding is expected to be released
in mid-July. The funding amount is sufficient to cover the required
equipment payment mentioned above. Therefore, Energy Technology’s
management anticipates completing the supporting facilities for the
operation of the Company’s coking ovens by February next year.

During the Reporting Period, positive progress was also made in the
loan settlement between the Company and China Cinda (HK) Asset
Management Co., Limited (“Cinda HK”). The Company has now
reached a consensus with Cinda HK on the terms of the settlement
agreement text. However, at Cinda HK’s request, the Company is
awaiting the completion of adjustments and renegotiations at the
controlling shareholder level of the Company. Once this step is done,
the Company would be in a better position to execute the settlement
agreement with Cinda HK.

While the current operating environment remains challenging, the
Company has taken all necessary steps to navigate these difficulties
and remains hopeful that the situation will improve very soon. With
critical financing milestones approaching, supportive government
policies, and the ongoing optimisation of industry capacity, the
Company is optimistic that it will soon overcome these hurdles and
begin generating revenue from its advanced coking operations.

*
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated operating performance

Total revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$34,230,000 as compared to approximately HK$2,403,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Previous Reporting Period”).
The gross profit for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$45,000 (the Previous Reporting Period: approximately HK$3,000),
and the Group recorded a gross profit margin of approximately 0.1%
for the Reporting Period as compared to approximately 0.1% in the
Previous Reporting Period. Loss after tax for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$29,487,000 (the Previous Reporting Period: loss after
tax was approximately HK$35,739,000), and loss attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$29,484,000 (the
Previous Reporting Period: loss attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$35,732,000). Basic loss per share for
the Reporting Period was HK$0.10, as compared to the basic loss per
share of HK$0.12 in the Previous Reporting Period.

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments, namely:
(i) trading of coke (the “Coke Trading Segment”); (i) washing of raw
coal into refined coal for sale and for further processing and the sale
of electricity and heat generated as by-products produced during the
washing of raw coal (the “Coal-related Ancillary Segment”); and

(i) processing of refined coal into coke for sale, and sale of coke by-
products of coke production (the “Coke Production Segment’).

Coke Trading Segment

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the Coke Trading Segment
amounted to approximately HK$34,230,000, and the Group’s segment
results of coke trading were approximately HK$45,000. The Group
has not generated revenue and has no segment result from the Coke
Trading Segment in the Previous Reporting Period. The revenue for the
Reporting Period mainly came from part of the processing trade that the
Company started before the end of the Reporting Period.

Coal-related Ancillary Segment

The Group has not generated revenue and reported no segment result
from the Coal-related Ancillary Segment, for two consecutive reporting
periods, which was mainly attributed to the suspension of the Coal-
related Ancillary business since 2021.

Coke Production Segment

The Group did not generate revenue from the Coke Production
Segment for the Reporting Period (2024: Nil). The Group had no
segment results for the Reporting Period from the coke production
(2024: Nil). This was due to the shutdown of all 4.3-meter coking
furnaces of the Group on 15 October 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

Administrative Expenses
The Group’s administrative expenses were approximately
HK$17,943,000 (Previous Reporting Period: HK$27,327,000) during
the Reporting Period. The decrease in such expenses was attributed to
the reduction of exchange losses and the reduction in professional fees
during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs
For the Reporting Period, the finance costs of the Group were
approximately HK$31,144,000 (Previous Reporting Period:
HK$31,105,000).

Loss Before Tax

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a loss before tax
of approximately HK$29,487,000 (Previous Reporting Period:
HK$35,739,000). The decrease in loss before tax was mainly due to the
decrease in administrative expenses.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS

The Group had neither pledged assets nor pledged deposits during the
Reporting Period (including charges over deposits) (2024: Nil).

MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL,
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any significant
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures and
did not hold any significant investment with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets as at 31 March 2025.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of underlying assets. To maintain the most optimal capital structure,
the Group may adjust its dividend policy, make capital distribution
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or procedures for capital management during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEmR DR

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other borrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling shareholder, cash
and bank balances, trade payables, and other payables and accruals,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks associated with the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and
agrees upon the various policies for managing these risks.

The Group regularly adopts gearing ratios as a tool for monitoring
capital structure. The gearing ratio as of 31 March 2025 was 47%
(2024: 45%).

As of 31 March 2025, the equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$874,664,000 (2024: approximately
HK$916,613,000).

The net assets per share of the Company as at 31 March 2025 was
HK$3.59 (2024: HK$3.74).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net current liabilities and current ratio were approximately
HK$444,496,000 (2024: approximately HK$337,091,000) and 0.24
(2024 0.29) respectively as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$1,675,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,448,000),
and other borrowings were approximately HK$218,188,000 (2024:
approximately HK$218,188,000).

As of 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group had no bills payable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

Management’s position and basis on the going concern
assumption, and its view on the disclaimer of opinion

As detailed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025, conditions existed as at 31 March 2025
indicating the existence of material uncertainties, which may cast
significant doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. In view of such circumstances, the Management of the Group
has conducted a thorough review and given careful consideration to
the Group’s current liquidity, the schedule of full operation of the new
operating assets and available sources of financing in considering
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Management
has also proactively taken or will continue to implement measures to
mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and to improve its cash flow
conditions. Taking into account the schedule of full operation of the
new operating assets and the expected successful implementation of
such measures, both the Management and the Directors are confident
that the Group will have sufficient working capital for a period of not
less than 12 months from 31 March 2025, and hence it is appropriate
to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Management is of the view that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy future working capital and other
financing requirements as and when they fall due for the period of not
less than twelve months from 31 March 2025.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of the
following measures, which may encounter multiple uncertainties,
including: (i) successfully reaching the settlement with the creditor
to dismiss the winding-up petition; (i) the Group’s ability to generate
operating cash flows through the new operating assets; (i) actual prices
of coal and related by-products throughout the forecast period being in
line with the assumed levels; and (iv) the successful collection of other
receivables and compensation income.

There was no disagreement between the Management and the Auditor
regarding the disclaimer of opinion, considering that the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by the Management on a
going concern basis, which reflects the assessment of the Group’s
financial position and prospects. The validity of this basis depends on
the successful outcome of the measures which are subject to normal
uncertainties, but are considered achievable given the current progress.
In all other respects, the Auditor is of the view that the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

Management’s position and basis, and its view on the Scope
Limitation

As detailed in the section of the “Other Matters” to the consolidated
financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Auditor
qualified their opinion in respect of the scope limitation (the “Scope
Limitation”), indicating the existence of the uncertainties to the matter
of the recoverability of the trade receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables from Energy Technology (the “Receivables”).

Considering that the Receivables have been adjudicated by the court
and are in the process of being filed for enforcement, demonstrating
clear legal recognition of their validity, the Management is of the view
that during the Reporting Period, the Receivables, with adequate
provision has been made to reflect some extent of uncertainty, should
be ultimately recoverable on the basis of the court judgement was
obtained as well as the repayments received over the past years of not
less than 20% of the outstanding balances.

Audit Committee’s views towards the disclaimer of opinion

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
reviewed and agreed with the Management’s position concerning the
action plan of the Group set out below to address the disclaimer of
opinion. The Audit Committee has also discussed with the Management
and the Auditor to understand the reason for the disclaimer of opinion
and the views of the Board and the Auditor. After careful deliberation,
the Audit Committee concurs with the Management’s position and
views with respect to the disclaimer of opinion and the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, as well as the actions to be implemented
by the Management.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Scope Limitation

The Audit Committee reviewed and understood the Management’s
position and basis regarding the Scope Limitation from a commercial
perspective, which takes into account practical business realities. The
Audit Committee also discussed the reasons and views with the Auditor
regarding the Scope Limitation in respect of the Receivables. The Audit
Committee considered that given the repayment of not less than 20%
of the Receivables during the past years, it is an issue of slow recovery
rather than recoverability and that relevant audit evidences in forms of
remittance advices and bank receipts were made available to the Auditor.

Details of action plans of the Group to address the
disclaimer of opinion

In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and with a view to
remove the disclaimer of opinion, the Company had proactively taken
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its cash
flows, including:

(i) actively progressing negotiations with the lender to reach a

settlement to dismiss the winding-up petition, which has currently
entered the final stage;
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(i)  making substantial progress towards bringing the new operating
assets into full operation, which is expected to enable the Group
to generate operating cash flows;

(i) continuing our efforts and take necessary actions on the recovery
of the outstanding receivables; and

(iv)  actively pursuing other financing channels.

The Management and the Directors believe that the current action plans
are the most commercially practicable and effective plans and measures
in addressing the Group’s liquidity matters and its ability to continue as a
going concern. The Management remains fully committed to the current
action plans and the implementation thereof with progress already being
made, while continuing their efforts in addressing the going concern
issue and disclaimer of opinion.

Details of action plans of the Group to address the Scope
Limitation

In order to address the Scope Limitation in relation to the recoverability
of the Receivables, the Management has filed a lawsuit with the
Intermediate People’s Court of Luliang during the Reporting Period
requesting for enforcement. The Management will closely monitor the
relevant procedures and endeavor to recover the Receivables as soon
as possible with the involvement of the court. The legal process is
progressing, reinforcing the Company'’s position on recoverability.

Impact of the Disclaimer of opinion on the Company’s
financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2025.

Impact of the Scope Limitation on the Company’s financial
position

Should the above-mentioned plans and measures not be achieved,
the Group might not be able to recover full or partial amount of the
Receivables and an adjustment would have to be made to write down
the carrying value of the Receivables to their recoverable amounts,
which could result in an impairment loss to be recorded in the income
statement and a decrease of the value of asset in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. However, the amount of the
Receivables does not constitute a substantial part of the Group’s asset
and its impairment will not have any material financial impacts to the
Company.
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OPERATING LEASE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, according to the disclosure
requirements under HKFRS Accounting Standards, the Group had no
operating lease commitments.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognizes and takes very seriously its responsibility to
ensure the Company maintains a sound and effective risk management
and internal control system. The Group’s internal control system is
designed and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal; relevant rules and regulations are adhered
to and complied with; reliable financial and accounting records are
maintained in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements; and key risks that may impact the
Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. The
review of the Group’s internal controls covers major financial, operational
and compliance controls, as well as risk management functions. While
no system can provide absolute assurance, the internal control system
has been carefully designed to provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss, striking the appropriate balance between
risk management and operational efficiency as it is designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business objectives.

The Group’s risk management framework includes risk identification,
risk assessment, risk treatment and monitoring and reviewing of the
effectiveness of the measures. This risk management framework is
guided by a three-tier risk management approach. At the first line of
defense, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with all business activities or transactions.
Management, as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and
models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defense is effective. As the
final line of defense, the Audit Committee, supported by the professional
advice and opinions from external professional consultants, who
conduct independent annual audit work for the Group, continually
inspects and monitors the first and second lines of defense to ensure
that they are effective.

This multi-layered approach provides shareholders with confidence that
the Group’s risk management systems are both comprehensive and
effective.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly comprises fair value interest risk
and cash flow interest rate risk. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk
that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to the changes
in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that
the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
the changes in market interest rates. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk due to the impact of interest rate changes
on deposits. To minimize the fair value interest rate risk, the Group
maintains its borrowings at a fixed rate of interest. Management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are principally
denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”), United States dollars (“USD”) and
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”). The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risk arising from the monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective group
entities. The Group does not have any outstanding hedging instruments.
The Group will continually review the economic situation and its foreign
currency risk profile and will consider appropriate hedging measures in
the future as necessary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities that have not been provided for in the financial statements
(2024: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions that
are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$9,711,000, as compared to approximately
HK$10,225,000 for the Previous Reporting Period. As at 31 March
2025, the Group had 15 employees, with 14 employees stationed in
Hong Kong. Upon the full operation of the new coking furnace asset,
the labor relationship of the management and workers in Mainland
China will be officially transferred to Energy Jiarun.

Employees are remunerated according to the nature of their job and
market trends, performance evaluation mechanism, annual increment
and year-end performance bonus measures to reward and motivate
individual performance. As at the date of this report, the Group has no
share option scheme or any outstanding share options.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

For the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company (including sale of treasury shares). As at 31
March 2025, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to the next reporting period, the Company is fully
committed to delivering on its following key priorities with utmost
dedication and focus:

1. Upon the successful securing of financing by Energy Technology,
the Company will make every effort to expedite the progress of
its supporting construction, striving for the early commissioning of
our coke ovens and the generation of stable cash flow and hoping
to achieve profitability.

2. The Company will actively invest in the fine deep-processing for
by-product tail gas generated during coke production, aiming to
enhance the value-added products. This initiative seeks to open
up new profit growth points beyond the core coke business,
strengthening the Company’s overall profitability and risk
resilience.

3. Responding proactively to the national “dual-carbon” strategy, we
will actively seek promising investment opportunities in the new
energy and green energy sectors to secure greater economic
benefits and profit returns for shareholders.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang, aged 62, was appointed as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 17 November 2016 and was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 2 May 2017. Mr. Zhao was
appointed as Authorized Representative on 15 January 2020 and
resigned as Authorized Representative on 1 March 2020. Mr. Zhao
has more than 20 years of experience in business executive and
management. Mr. Zhao worked for the Ministry of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Zhao also
acted as chairman, general manager and director of various enterprises
specializing in trading, investment, property and in the energy field. Mr.
Zhao served as chairman and executive director of Titan Petrochemicals
Group Limited (“Titan Petrochemicals”), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1192) from
July 2012 to September 2015. Mr. Zhao graduated from Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies with a Bachelor of Economics degree.

Mr. WANG Yijun, aged 62, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 10 July 2019. Mr. Wang served as
a director and general manager of Shanxi Yiling Investment Inc.*
from March 2010 to November 2018. Mr. Wang also served as chief
executive director of Shanxi Zhongrui Group* and general manager of
Shanxi Zhongrui Trading Company Limited* from August 1999 to March
2010. Mr. Wang holds a professional qualification in industrial and civil
architecture at Taiyuan University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick, aged 69, was appointed as an
executive Director and served as director of subsidiaries of the Group
with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Joint
General Manager and Authorized Representative on 17 November 2016
and re-designated as General Manager on 25 November 2016 and
subsequently re-designated as non-executive Director and resigned
as Authorized Representative on 9 April 2018. Mr. Wong was re-
appointed as Authorized Representative on 1 March 2020. Mr. Wong
has more than 40 years of working experience in banking, finance,
commodity trading and project development. Mr. Wong was appointed
as an executive director of Daisho Microline Holdings Limited with effect
from 3 September 2020, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 567) and re-designated as
a non-executive Director with effect from 1 April 2024. Mr. Wong was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Yuan Heng Gas
Holdings Limited with effect from 26 September 2023, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
332). Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director of FDG Kinetic
Limited between 30 April 2021 and 20 February 2023, the shares of
which were previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhEREEBZRBREFE

(Delisted, Previous Stock Code: 378), during his tenure of office as
an executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited, a winding up order
pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was made by the High
Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against FDG Kinetic
Limited on 6 September 2021. Pursuant to an announcement dated 15
February 2023 made by the Stock Exchange, the listing of the shares
of FDG Kinetic Limited was cancelled with effect from 9:00 am on 20
March 2023. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director, a
member of each of the audit committee and remuneration, quality and
nomination committee of Crown International Corporation Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 727) between 3 March 2021 and 31 March 2022. Mr.
Wong was an executive director of Winto Group (Holdings) Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 8238) between 15 April 2019 and 6 November 2019. Mr. Wong
was an executive director of Titan Petrochemicals between 2008 and
2015. Mr. Wong was the senior vice president of Commodity and
Trade Finance at Societe Generale Singapore and the chief executive
officer in the China Division of Louis Dreyfus Group, a global commodity
trading firm. Mr. Wong is an associate member of Chartered Institute
of Bankers, United Kingdom (now renamed as The London Institute
of Banking & Finance), a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and a member of The Institute of Management Consultants
Hong Kong and a Certified Management Consultant. Mr. Wong holds a
Master’s degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia
and an Executive Diploma in Management Consulting from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. FONG Man, Julisa, aged 54, was appointed as an non-executive
Director with effect from 31 December 2024 and was appointed as
member of Nomination Committee on 16 June 2025. Ms. Fong has
over 28 years of experience in corporate finance transactions, including
mergers and acquisitions, initial public offerings and equity syndication.
She is currently the Managing Director and a responsible officer of Veda
Capital Limited, of which she is a founder, a corporation licensed to
carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”). She has extensive experience in advising listed
companies on corporate finance and company restructuring. Ms. Fong
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration from Chinese University of
Hong Kong, a Master degree in Business Administration from University
of Kansas and a Master degree in International and Public Affairs from
The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Fong was a non-executive director
of Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (Stock Code: 8221) from December
2020 to October 2021. Ms. Fong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of International Genius Company (Stock Code:
33) with effect from 24 July 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YAU Pak Yue, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 16 June 2025. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. Mr. Yau obtained his
Bachelor of Commerce (majoring in Accountancy) from the University
of Wollongong in Australia. He was the chief knowledge officer of
Guangzhou Chengfa Capital Company Limited, a state-owned fund
management company, from May 2015 to January 2017. Prior to that,
he was a partner at one of the big four international accounting firms
from 2005 to 2012. He has over 30 years of experience in mergers and
acquisitions transaction supports and financial due diligence. Mr. Yau
is currently the director of Ewin Advisory Company Limited. In addition,
Mr. Yau is a certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a fellow
certified practising accountant in Australia. Mr. Yau has been a non-
executive director of Daisho Microline Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 567) since
September 2020, an independent non-executive director of Hifood
Group Holdings Co., Limited (now known as Domaine Power Holdings
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 442) since May 2021, an independent non-executive
director of Xinhua News Media Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 309) since July
2021. Mr. Yau was an independent non-executive director of Jiayuan
International Group Limited (In Liquidation), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (delisted from the Stock Exchange in
October 2024, stock code: 2768) from June 2024 to December 2024.
He was appointed as the independent non-executive director of Jiayuan
International Group Limited (In Liquidation) by the liquidators to assist
the company in the implementation of its restructuring plan. There was
no wrongful act or mismanagement on his part leading to the liquidation
of this company.

Mr. Yau was a non-executive director of DreamEast Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 593)
from July 2023 to January 2024. He served as a non-executive director
of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 618) from
October 2021 to December 2021, an executive director of Freeman
FinTech Corporation Limited (now known as Arta TechFin Corporation
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 279) from July 2020 to October 2021, an independent
non-executive director of Fullsun International Holdings Group Co.,
Limited (now known as Japan Kyosei Group Company Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
627) from December 2020 to July 2023, an independent non-executive
director of KEE Holdings Company Limited (now known as China Apex
Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2011) from July 2017 to November 2019 and
Ascent International Holdings Limited (now known as China International
Development Corporation Limited), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 264) from September 2017 to
August 2018.
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Dr. CHANG Sun Bun Benson, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 16 June
2025. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.
Dr. Chang holds a Post-Doctorate in Corporate Governance and
Doctor of Laws from Sabi University in France, Doctor of Business
Administration (Honoris Causa) from International American University
in United States of America, Master of Laws from Central Party School
of the Communist Party of China, Guangdong Campus in China,
Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from University of Lincoln
in United Kingdom, Diploma in Management Studies from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, Executive Diploma in Internal Audit from The
University of Hong Kong, Executive Certificate in ESG Investment from
Lingnan University, and an Certified Carbon Emission Manager from
the University of Chinese Academy of Sciences in China. Dr. Chang
has over 38 years of experience in auditing, financial reporting, tax
and internal control. Dr. Chang is an Adjunct Professor of the Yuanpei
Business School, Peking University since 2022, Adjunct Professor of
the China Academy of Management Development Science since 2020,
Think Tank Member of Dashun Foundation since 2022, Council Member
of Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since 2024, Vice President of the
Association of Chinese Internal Auditors since 2023, Deputy Director of
Indonesia Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong since 2022, Executive
Council Member and Chairman of International Affairs Committee of
the Hong Kong General Chamber of Small & Medium Business since
2022, Executive Committee Member of Association of International
Accountants — Hong Kong Branch since 2021, Vice President of the
Hong Kong Minxi Association since 2020, Executive Director of Hong
Kong Federation of Fujian Associations since 2022, Vice President
of the Guangdong Association of Chief Financial Officers since 2018,
Vice President of the Shenzhen Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment since 2018, and Executive Council Member of Shenzhen
Certified Tax Agents Association since 2014. Dr. Chang was granted the
“The Outstanding Young Entrepreneur Award of Greater China 2019”
hosted by Hong Kong Commercial Daily and the “Excellent Leadership
of Foreign Investment Enterprise” awarded by the Shenzhen Association
of Enterprises with Foreign Investment in 2019 and 2024.
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Dr. Chang was an independent non-executive director of FDG Kinetic
Limited between 30 April 2021 and 20 February 2023, the shares of
which were previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Delisted, Previous Stock Code: 378), during his tenure of office as an
independent non-executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited, a winding
up order pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was
made by the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
against FDG Kinetic Limited on 6 September 2021. Pursuant to an
announcement dated 15 February 2023 made by the Stock Exchange,
the listing of the shares of FDG Kinetic Limited was cancelled with
effect from 9:00 am on 20 February 2023. Dr. Chang was the Senior
Accounting Manager with Epicurean and Company, Limited (now
known as StarGlory Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code: 8213)
from 2008 to 2012. Dr. Chang is a Fellow Member of Institute of Public
Accountants in Australia since 2001, Fellow Member of Association
of International Accountants since 2006, International Affiliate of Hong
Kong Certified Public Accountants, Chartered Tax Adviser and Fellow of
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since 2010, China Certified Tax Agent
(Practising) since 2021, Fellow Member of the Institute of Certified
Management Accountants in Australia since 2023, Associate of Hong
Kong Institute of Arbitrators since 2023, Sustainability and AML/CFT
Professional of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute since
2022, Certified ESG Planner of International Chamber of Sustainable
Development since 2023, Fellow Member of Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute since 2015, Member of Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants since 2024, Registered Qualified Individual with
Accounting & Corporate Regulatory Authority in Singapore since 2024,
Chartered Member of Chartered Institute for Securities and Investment
in United Kingdom since 2020, Member of Institute of Internal Auditors
in United States of America since 2008, Forensic Certified Public
Accountant and Member of Forensic CPA Society in United States
of America since 2024, Member of Association of Certified Fraud
Examiners in United States of America since 2017 and INSOL since
2018.
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Mr. CHOI Wai Hong Clifford, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 16 June
2025. He is also the member of each of Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. Mr. Choi obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Arts in Economic and Social Studies from The Victoria
University of Manchester, United Kingdom (currently known as The
University of Manchester) in 1982. Mr. Choi is a member of (i) The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants; (i) The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales; (i) The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants; and (iv) The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Choi joined Price Waterhouse (currently known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong in January 1983 and departed
in July 1992 with his last position as manager. He was subsequently
a general manager in DCH MSC (China) Limited, NHK Distribution
Company Limited and Porsche Centre Hangzhou from July 1992 to
June 1999, July 1999 to December 2003 and January 2004 to August
2012, respectively. He then joined Princess Yacht Southern China
Limited as a chief executive officer from September 2012 to November
2012 and later on as a director in the NHK Yacht Services division of
NHK' Distribution Company Limited from December 2012 to August
2017. Mr. Choi then joined Beijing Glory Star Centre Automotive Sales
and Service Company Limited GERIBHESEHEREERA
7)) as its general manager from September 2017 to January 2018. He
was an executive director of Arta TechFin Corporation Limited (formerly
known as Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited) (“Freeman FinTech”)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 279) from November 2020
to October 2021, and an independent non-executive director of South
Shore Holdings Limited (In Liquidation) (“South Shore”) (delisted from
the Stock Exchange in February 2023, stock code: 577) from May
2021 to June 2023, a non-executive director of Silkk Road Logistics
Holdings Limited (delisted from the Stock Exchange in April 2024, stock
code: 988) from June 2021 to December 2021, an independent non-
executive director of DreamEast Group Limited (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 593) from December 2021 to January 2024,
and an independent non-executive director of EcoGreen International
Group Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2341) from
November 2022 to January 2024. Mr. Choi was an independent non-
executive director of Jiayuan International Group Limited (In Liquidation)
(“Jiayuan”) (delisted from the Stock Exchange in October 2024,
stock code: 2768) from June 2024 to October 2024 and was a non-
executive director of Xinming China Holdings Limited from April 2021
to February 2025 (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2699).
Mr. Choi is currently a non-executive director of C&D Newin Paper &
Pulp Corporation Limited (formerly known as Samson Paper Holdings
Limited) (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 731), an executive
director of China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 708) and an independent non-
executive director of Greatview Aseptic Packaging Company Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 468).
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. AU Wing Sze, aged 37, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 1 August 2020. Ms. Au holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration and a Master Degree in Corporate Governance.
She has solid experience in company secretarial field gained from both
listed companies and professional firms in Hong Kong. Ms. Au is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EE -

The Directors are pleased to present their report, the CG Report and the
ESG Report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in coke trading business, coal-related ancillary
business and coke production business. The activities of each of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview and Financial Performance

The review of the Group’s business and financial performance for the
year ended 31 March 2025 are provided in the section “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

1.  Risk arising from fluctuating prices of coke and coal
A large portion of our revenue is derived from the sale of coke.
The coke is primarily priced based on prevailing market prices,
supply and demand of the coke and by reference to various other
factors that are applicable to individual customers. Market prices
for coke are mainly affected by the coke demand of the domestic
steel industry and the coke supply in the market, and the
imbalance between supply and demand in the steel industry and
the coke market with severe structural contradiction has led to
significant fluctuations in their market prices in previous years. The
average selling price of the Group’s coke fluctuated which was in
line with the trend of the market price of coke. Therefore, the coke
price of the Group and the market price may not be stable.

The Group’s main production costs are the coking coal and the
manufacturing costs are relatively stable. The Group has closely
monitored the market price of coke and coking coal and the
changes in the spread between these prices are highly sensitive.
Trends in the market price of the coking coal and the coke may
not correlate with one another. When the coke market price
has declined, the Group may not be able to lower its cost of
production at on the same pace as the rate of decline in coal
price. Vice versa, the increase in coal market price may not have
a corresponding increase in the coke price of the Group. The
underlying situation could adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and operations.
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In response to this risk factor, the management will closely monitor
the economic environment and adopt corresponding measures
such as adjustment of production plans and enhancement of cost
monitoring.

Risks in association with changes in the Chinese
government policies and regulations

Coke production in the PRC is subject to extensive laws,
regulations and government policies. The obligations and
requirements associated with these laws, regulations,
responsibilities of government policies, relevant fees and
social responsibilities may have a major impact on the Group’s
operation. In particular, the Chinese government in recent
years has been strengthening its environmental control and
enforcement and has implemented a series of measures to reduce
production capacity, which may adversely affect the production,
business, and operation of the Group. Furthermore, the Group
will be responsible for the clean-up if the operation results in
contamination at the production facilities. Such a clean-up may
impose substantial costs.

In response to this risk factor, the management regards
environmental protection and control as one of its principal
responsibilities and if necessary, the Group shall invest and
upgrade its existing equipment and facilities to achieve the
domestic environmental standards.

Risk arising from safety management

The Group’s businesses are all of a highly hazardous nature and
of complex uncertainties which are potentially destructive and
explosive. The Group stores, handles and transports volatile,
flammmable, hazardous liquid and gaseous chemical products,
such as benzene, tar, sulphuric acid and coal gas. Improper
handling of these materials and products can cause danger such
as fires, explosions which lead to property loss, personal injuries,
death and possible legal liabilities.

In response to this risk factor, the management will adopt
a stringent safety management policy and control system,
reinforcement of installing safety warnings, and reinforcement
of safety education, promote safety skills training and improve
employees’ safety awareness.
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Future Business Development

The Company will strive for the full operation of the new coking furnace
assets with a designed annual capacity of no less than 1,200,000 tons
of coke, 65,000 tons of coal tar, 15,000 tons of crude benzene and
15,000 tons of ammonium sulfate, and will actively expand the market
and customer base. The coke production business is expected to
generate sustained and stable income and profit for the Group in the
future. Furthermore, the Group will also closely monitor the domestic
and international market development and adjust its strategies in
due course to correspond with challenges and seize the market
opportunities.

While operating the coke production business, the Company will also
continue to explore every investment opportunity for further expansion
of coke production capacity or development of the upstream and
downstream of coke industries, to further enhance the Company’s
future profitability. The Company is planning to continue the coke
processing business or other ways to retain the customers in a timely
manner under suitable conditions and favorable market environment.
At the same time, the Group is planning to develop coke oven gas
utilization projects for process and production of liquid natural gas,
hydrogen and other clean energy products by utilizing the hydrogen-rich
gas generated from the new coking furnace assets.

The Group is committed to assuming social responsibilities and
emphasizes environmental protection and production safety. In order to
achieve the goal with cleaner energy emissions, the Group continues to
fuffill its responsibility for environmentally friendly operation and upgrades
production equipment and facilities with self-raising environmental
standards.
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Key Relationships with our Stakeholders

The Group strives to maintain harmonious relationships with its
stakeholders, including but not limited to, its customers, suppliers and
employees.

1.  Customers
The Group continuously pays attention to strengthen and sustain
the relationship with its major customers and ensure customer
satisfaction by providing quality products and services to
customers.

2. Suppliers
The Group has established long-term, effective and mutually
beneficial working relationships with the major suppliers to ensure
stable and sustainable supplies for the businesses of the Group.

3. Employees

Employees are regarded as one of the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognize performing
staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with
appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and
progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group. The principle of the Group’s remuneration policy
is fairness, motivating, performance-oriented and market-
competitive. In addition to salaries, the Group provides medical
insurance, discretionary bonuses and retirement benefit scheme
to motivate the employee and enhance their sense of belonging.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s key business operation
in Shanxi Province strictly complied with applicable regulations, laws,
and standards related to environmental and social aspects. The Group
will continue to identify areas of improvement for the concerned aspects
and keep close communication with its stakeholders for advancing
environment, social and governance management. Details of the
environmental policies and performance are set out in the Environment,
Social and Governance Report of this Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Therefore, the Group’s establishment and operations shall
accordingly comply with all applicable laws and regulations in the PRC
and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this report, the Board considers that the Group has complied
with all the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 180.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

E /N A s B

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders asat W _ZE_RAE=A=+—H &2 5 7
31 March 2025 were as follows: DIRFREZHHEOT -
2025
ZEZREF
HK$’000
FET
Contributed surplus R ER 1,731,681
Accumulated losses St (2,446,162)
(714,481)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the contributed surplus
account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if (a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium accounts. As at 31
March 2025, the Company had no reserve available for distribution to
Shareholders (2024: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is committed to providing stable and sustainable
returns to Shareholders and endeavours to maintain a stable dividend
policy whilst maintaining an equitable balance between returns to
Shareholders and investment for sustaining growth. In recommending
a dividend, the Company shall take into account the expected future
capital requirements, growth opportunities available to the Group, net
earnings of the Group, and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules
and regulations and in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, there was no arrangement under which
a shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the year ended
31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Yijun

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick
Mr. Huang Man Yem'

Mr. Jiang Jiansheng?

Ms. Fong Man, Julisa®

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie*

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy®

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin®

Mr. Yau Pak Yue’

Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson®
Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford®

resigned on 16 June 2025
passed away on 9 June 2025
appointed on 31 December 2024
resigned on 16 June 2025
resigned on 16 June 2025
resigned on 16 June 2025
appointed on 16 June 2025
appointed on 16 June 2025
appointed on 16 June 2025

© ® N O o A O N =

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr.
Wang Yijun shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “2025 AGM”) and being eligible, offer himself for re-
election.

Pursuant to bye-law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Ms. Fong
Man, Julisa (non-executive Director), appointed on 31 December 2024,
Mr. Yau Pak Yue (independent non-executive director), appointed on 16
June 2025, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson (independent non-executive
director), appointed on 16 June 2025 and Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford
(independent non-executive director), appointed on 16 June 2025,
shall hold office until the following 2025 AGM and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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Ms. Fong Man, Julisa, Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson
and Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford have obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 December 2024, 13 June
2025, 13 June 2025 and 13 June 2025 respectively, and each of them
has confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations as a director
of the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 15 to 20 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors who will retire and offer themselves for re-election at
the 2025 AGM do not have an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation. All other Directors are not appointed for
specific terms and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has in force the
permitted indemnity provisions in the Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance maintained for the Group to indemnify the Directors against
all losses and liabilities which may sustain or incur while acting in his
capacity as Director in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company
and the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws of
the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and Directors
is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors
are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees employed in Hong Kong.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director, or the controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, is or was materially interested,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at any
time during the period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
competing business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS” in this report, at no time during the period
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the directors of the Company or their
spouse or minor children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as

EFERTETHRAEZ#Em
RIZBTHF=ZRA=1+—H ' {FEFFKL
ANREBTHRABRT AT HEBR LR

(&

FERBF LG ROIBEXVERD Z &7~

BERNREST BEELALATR
BESRPERIFEIMFATEEZE
sz Emikka iR EmARR P E
EHBETAEFETESFXSNRESTH
(MREFR) ENEARRE R BZFTZ 1

follows: mEHAEWNT
Long positions in shares of the Company REQXTRGZHFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued
Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held share capital
HEZITRE
B4 EEME Frsie{n 8 BB
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
i=pI=b bk EEEE 2 #am (Bta)
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy Beneficial owner and Interest of spouse (Note b) 24,333 0.008%
KR AEE Bn#A A\ KREBER (Watb)
Ms. Fong Man, Julisa Beneficial owner (Note c) 3,301,886 1.137%
Pk Eenm EmBEA A (Wite)
Notes: Bzt
(a)  As at 31 March 2025, Shun Wang Investments Limited is owned as to () WK _ZE_AF=H=+—H &5FRA

®)

(©)

100% by Whole Advance Limited, whose voting ordinary shares are
owned as to 100% by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned
as to 100% by Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, an execultive Director, chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Zhao is deemed to
be interested in 146,841,904 shares of the Company under the Part XV of
the SFO.

As at 31 March 2025, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, an independent non-
executive Director, together with his spouse, respectively holds 6,293
Shares and 18,040 Shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy is interested in 6,293 Shares and deemed to have interest in
18,040 Shares of the Company under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy resigned as independent non-executive director on 16 June
2025.

As at 31 March 2025, Ms. Fong Man, Julisa, an non-executive Director,
holds 3,301,886 Shares of the Company.

®)

(©

B2 EHBIRIREFIRA 0 Em » B
IBRABITEHBEEBRAGZAR
EREBERED  MARTHTEEF L
ERAITHABZ NI ELE L BB EILE
R EJH9 # 7w o UL > R385 R AT & 1%
BIBXVES » B 7E L£ #RA1F)S146,841,904/%
KRR PHEE o

RIEZAF=A=+—H BUIFHT
EBFH RPN LEHRINE D FFE6,293
R R EIJR17 18,040/ K 2\ E] R 17 © A
It > RIFFE 5 RATE F B EXVES » F KA
FEEF6, 293K R 17 HHEE #m AT IF
18,0408 7 R B R 17 B # i © 1K
REER B ZAFANAHATET
R TTEFE -

RIB_RZHFE=Z/A=4+—H FHTEF
T 8L +#F 53,301,886/ 7K 1\ T 567 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of each person,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO, were as follows:

BREXFRIREEII R _Z_RF=A
=t+—H ' REFERFRAVEBZTHAER
BMERAQBDXEEAREZE (EER
B H RS IRAIEXVER Z 17 ~ 1B D
REFT ELFHEREEST RBESERM
EI2MF BTz Bm kB WIREIR
27BN G AR E) K B3P 2 sk

s
Be

FERRREMALZER

RIE_REFE=ZRA=+—HB &AL (ESE
FAEARNBEBITHAERIN REARBZK
BHAERERS T EEREESRBER
B EXVER 2R EB3 N EE A & AN B K Fh
Rz Emkxe (BREEERESES R
E®ROI 2 BRMEX W BEERRIERSR 2
mARKA) WRARABREES MBS
BB EIB6REFEEZERMzER R XA
wr:

Long positions in shares of the Company: REXBTRGBZTFE :
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of substantial Shareholders Nature of interest shares held capital
HERTRA
TERRZER ATE RENE FrsRm & E B4 5 7L
Shun Wang Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
B ERRAT BmEB A (Wita)
Whole Advance Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
aBBRAE EREE 2 #m (W5ta)
Liberal Expansion Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
EShBRAE] EEEE 2 #a (fita)
Rontac Resources Company Limited  Beneficial owner (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
REBERBRAT Bm#EE A W5tb)
Rontac Investment Company Limited  Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
RREERRAT EHNEE 2 #m (W)
Mr. Li Hongwei Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
FRERE EREE 2 #m (Watb)
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Notes:

@  As at 31 March 2025, Shun Wang is owned as to 100% by Whole
Aadvance Limited, the voting ordinary shares of which are owned as to
100% by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned as to 100% by
Mr. Zhao.

(b)  As at 31 March 2025, Rontac Resources Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Rontac Investment Company Limited, which in turn is owned as
to 71% by Mr. Li Hongwei. Accordingly, Mr. Li Hongwei is deemed to be
interested in 14,718,922 Shares under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions as set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements falls under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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OTHER BORROWINGS

The other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2025 amounted
to HK$218,188,000 (2024: HK$218,188,000). Particulars of other
borrowings are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 March
2025 amounted to approximately HK$1,666,634,000 (2024:
HK$1,687,336,000). Details of movements of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for 100% (2024:
100%) of the Group’s total turnover and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 43.7% (2024: 63.8%) of the Group’s total turnover.

The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 100% (2024:
100%) of the Group’s total purchases for the period and the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 56.9% (2024: 63.8%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the period did a Director, a close associate of a
Director or a Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding treasury
shares)) have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship
with our employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has complied with the sufficiency of public float
requirement under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March
2025.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Update on the Winding-Up Petition Hearing

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2025
and 9 June 2025, the Company actively engaged in communication
and negotiation with the China Cinda (Hong Kong) Asset Management
Company Limited (the “Petitioner”), and has reached a consensus on
the terms of a settlement agreement which is pending execution by
the parties. However, the Petitioner has informed the Company that,
as a holder of preference shares in Whole Advance Limited (“Whole
Advance”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, it is currently
adjusting and renegotiating the terms of the preference shares with
Whole Advance (the “Adjustment”). While this Adjustment will not
affect the terms of the settlement agreement between the Petitioner and
the Company, nor is it a condition precedent for the effectiveness of
the settlement agreement, the Petitioner has requested that the formal
signing of the settlement agreement with the Company take place after
the completion of this Adjustment.

Currently, the winding-up petition hearing has been adjourned to 25
August 2025. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company
to inform the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company of
any significant developments in relation to the Petition as and when
appropriate.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to supporting sustainability of the environment
and endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and to adopt measures to achieve efficient
use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. The details of
environmental, social and governance information of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 60 to 103 to this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the operations of the
Group. The Company is subject to the Listing Rules, the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the Bermuda Companies
Law, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and/or the rules and regulations of the jurisdictions
where the shares of the Company are listed and traded. Details of the
corporate governance practices of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
37 to 59 to this Annual Report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 23
September 2025 (Tuesday) to 26 September 2025 (Friday), both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the forthcoming 2025
AGM to be held on 26 September 2025 (Friday), share transfer forms
accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 September
2025 (Tuesday). The record date for the purpose of determining the
eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM is 26
September 2025 (Friday).

AUDITOR

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited has been appointed as the external auditor
of the Company with effect from 25 January 2021 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited as external auditor of
the Company, and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other change in the auditors of
the Company in the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, which will

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Xu Guang
Chairman

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

LERMDIBEES

NBER _E_RENAB+=H (8
O EEZE_AFAA+/NE (BHHAH)
(BEEEMA) EERODBEERL AR
EEREREENR _S_AFHAB _+"H
(BHR) BT REZSZHERREBES
A RMBEXRBERBEAREANE
A TETRFEAAZ+TE (BED) ™ F
M= +DEERNBZEBRDBEE
EOREESEFHECLERAT  HMUAESE
BEREICHERSHPOITE BEER
RHFE_Z_AFERRBEFRETLNE L
CENERNEHBHASEA S _AELA
—+/NH (BHH) -

ZEEm
$E§15%ﬁ$?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%§%
REQNBIIEZHBET B2 - —F—A
“+EB®EEN Mﬁﬁ*%4hﬁ g
SHEMEHAIARABRBERRRINEIZE
fEMNERRZER TRERESAST TE
RERBFRGHERF L

bR EXFRIREEE I R QB HEM N BE
—FUEHEMES-

BE T RAF-A=+t—HLFEZR
GMBHRRERTERES %%%ﬁﬁﬁ
RADEZ HERREE-Z-_HEFRR
BEARELRE TS ERBEREER
B

RREFE

E
H#IHE S



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELAHRS

The Board is committed to upholding high standard of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that effective corporate governance
practices emphasised on accountability and transparency are the
keys to protect the interest of our Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders, enhance the confidence in the Group business and fulffil
its social responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance practices which
have applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1, under the Listing Rules issued by the
Stock Exchange together with all other applicable rules under Listing
Rules, the SFO, the Companies Ordinance and other applicable laws,
rules and guidelines.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
except for the code provisions C.1.6 and C.2.1 with reason for the
deviation explained hereunder, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code in Part 1 of Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules.

As a required disclosure under the Code Provision D.1.3 of the CG
Code, as set out in the 2024/25 annual reports, the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”) has issued a disclaimer of opinion regarding
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group has
taken and will continue to take certain proposed measures to improve
the Group’s working capital and cash flow position and mitigate its
liquidity pressure. For details of the disclaimer of opinion and proposed
measures, please refer to the section headed “Management’s position
and basis on the going concern assumption, and its view on the
disclaimer of opinion” of the Annual Report. Details of action plans of
the Group to address the Scope Limitation, impact of the disclaimer of
opinion on the Company’s financial position and impact of the Scope
Limitation on the Company’s financial position are set out at page 9 and
page 11 of this report respectively.

Compliance with the Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed in writing,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has designed an appropriate corporate governance
structure for the Group which is headed by an effective board of
directors. To assist the Board in discharging its duties and facilitate
effective management, the Board has established three Board
committees (each, a “Board Committee”), including Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. The Board
undertakes the corporate governance function and is lead by the
Chairman. The majority of the members of each Board Committee are
independent non-executive Directors, and each Board Committee has
its own defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board
covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of reference are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises Mr. Zhao Xu Guang
(Chairman), and Mr. Wang Yijun as executive Directors; Mr. Wong Siu
Hung, Patrick and Ms. Fong Man, Julisa as non-executive Directors;
Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong,
Clifford as independent non-executive Directors.

Directors’ Retirement at 2025 AGM

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr.
Wang Yijun shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Ms. Fong
Man, Julisa (non-executive Director), appointed on 31 December 2024,
Mr. Yau Pak Yue (independent non-executive director), appointed on 16
June 2025, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson (independent non-executive
director), appointed on 16 June 2025 and Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford
(independent non-executive director), appointed on 16 June 2025, shall
hold office until the following AGM and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 15 to 21 of this Annual Report.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
operations, strategies, financial performance and compliance. The
following outlined the key matters that are reserved to the Board for
approval:

° set the Group’s overall objectives and business strategies;

° establish Board Committees, define the role and duties of each
Board Committeg;

° authorise delegation of power to the management for
implementation of its decisions;

° direct and supervise management performance;

° oversee the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory
obligations;

° review financial statements, announcements and reports; and
° recommend on of dividends and its distribution.

Delegation to the Management

The Board has delegated its power to the executive Directors to act on
its behalf. The executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of operations, implementing the decisions approved by
the Board, conducting regular meetings with the senior management
of the Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies, at
which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.
The executive Directors are required to report and provide updated
information to the Board on a regular basis on business development,
financial positions, market updates, risk management, compliance and
corporate governance issues.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, being the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”),
also acts as Chief Executive Officer since 2 May 2017.

Code Provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.
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Reason for Deviation

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang is the Chairman of the Board and also serves as
Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that, despite the deviation of
the CG Code, vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Zhao has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership
within the Group and enabling more effective and efficient overall
strategic planning of the Group. The Board considers that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired
and this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate and
suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five non-executive
Directors including independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick and Ms. Fong Man, Julisa, Mr. Yau Pak Yue,
Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford. According
to bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors at the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. All non-executive Directors are not
appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
requirement under the Bye-Laws and shall retire from office at least
once every three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board comprises of three independent non-executive Directors
out of nine members of the Board in total, representing one-third of
Board. The Board is satisfied that current composition of the Board
is in compliance with the requirement of independent non-executive
Directors under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rule.

Most of the independent non-executive Directors are professionals with
recognised qualifications, either being certified public accountant or
lawyer, who possess extensive experience in their own professions. The
biographical details of the independent non-executive Directors are set
out on pages 17 to 20 of this Annual Report. During the year ended
31 March 2025, all independent non-executive Directors contributed
impartial view to the Board members and made independent
judgements on issues discussed at the Board meetings.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Director for the year ended 31 March
2025 pursuant to the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board considered each of the independent non-
executive Directors fulfilled the independence requirement throughout
the year and up to the date of this report. The independent non-
executive Directors had been identified in all corporate communications
of the Company that disclose the names of Directors.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS

Saved as disclosed under section heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 15 to 20
in this Annual Report, none of the members of the Board has any
relationship, neither financial, business, family nor other material/relevant
relations, among each other.

MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS FROM
DIRECTORS

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the following
mechanism is established by the Board:

1. Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall provide a
written annual confirmation of independence to the Company on
their compliance with the independence requirements as set out
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
shall assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors upon appointment and annually to ensure they can
continually exercise independent judgement.

2. Composition of Board

Currently, one-third of the Board members are independent non-
executive Directors, which meets the requirement of the Listing
Rules that at least one-third of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors.

3. Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board and Board committee
meetings will be given to all Directors, and all Directors are invited
to include any matters for discussion in the agenda. By at least
3 business days in advance of every regular Board and Board
committee Meeting, Directors are provided with the meeting
agenda and the relevant board papers containing complete,
adequate and timely information to enable full deliberation on the
issues to be considered at the respective meetings.
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All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect interests, if
any, in any business proposals to be considered at the meetings
and, where appropriate, they are required to abstain from voting
on any Board resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all regular
meetings of the Board and Board committees on which they
serve. They should also attend general meetings of the Company
to acquire understanding of the views of the shareholders.

Remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committees and
no equity-based or incentive based compensation program is
granted to independent non-executive Directors as this may lead
to bias in their decision-making and compromise their objectivity
and independence.

Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date
Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and orientation
program for all new recruits to the Board. Such program would
familiarise the newly appointed Director with the nature of the
business, the corporation’s strategy, the internal control and
corporate governance practices and policies, and directors’
duties and responsibilities. Subsequent information packages are
regularly provided to the Directors to keep them abreast of their
responsibilities and infuse them with new knowledge relevant to
the Group’s current business and operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are entitled to seek advice from the Company Secretary
as well as from independent professional advisers at the expense
of the Company.

Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to express
freely their independent views and inputs in an open and candid
manner. The chairman also encourages questions and challenges
from Directors, in particular independent non-executive Directors
and their comments and concerns are closely followed up by the
management.
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In addition to Board meetings, the chairman schedules a meeting
annually with independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors to discuss the affairs of the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that
record not only the decision reached but any concerns raised
or dissenting views expressed by Directors. Draft versions of
the minutes are circulated to all Directors for their comment
and confirmation before it is finalised for records. Minutes of all
Board and Board committee meetings are available for Directors’
inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms have
been reviewed by the Board on an annual basis and the Board believe
these measures would allow Directors to contribute effectively and
independent views and input are available to the Board and Board
committees.

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against the Directors and management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

All Board members have separate and independent access to the
Company Secretary and management of the Group to fulfil their duties.
Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant
Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their
request.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Au Wing Sze (“Ms. Au”) acts as the Company Secretary of the
Company and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and the Board is fully briefed on all legislative,
regulatory and corporate governance developments and that it has
regard to them when making decisions.

Ms. Au undertakes to ensure a good information flow within the Board
and between the Board and senior management, provides advice to the
Board in relation to Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules and
applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in implementing
the corporate governance practices. During the year ended 31 March
2025, Ms. Au finished no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training and in compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEEDINGS

Regular Board meetings were held 6 times during the year ended 31
March 2025. The Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and company secretarial team for ensuring that
the Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The chairman of the meeting set the meeting agenda in consultation
with other Board members and with assistance of the company
secretarial team. Board meeting notice is sent to the Directors at
least 14 days prior to each regular Board meeting and reasonable
notice is given for other Board meetings. Board papers and meeting
materials with sufficient information details are sent to Board and Board
Committee members at least 3 days before each meeting to enable the
Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are drafted
by the Company Secretary of the meetings and recorded in sufficient
details of the matters discussed and decisions reached and have been
circulated to the Directors for comments and record in a timely manner.
Originals of all minutes of the Company are kept by the company
secretarial team and open for inspection by Directors.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, that Director
will be abstained from voting on the relevant resolutions with conflict of
interest and that he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at
such Board meeting.
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Attendance of Board Meeting and General Meeting during
the period

The attendance of Board meetings and general meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Attended/Held and

REPANZEFTEEERRRAGHEA
S

BE_T_RF=-—RA=+—HLEHEE &
FEERRRRAGZHEAZHIWT

Attendance at
2024 general

Board Meetings

Capacity and Name of Director Eligible to Attend meetings
EETgRUE —EE
RY BITRERK RERAE
EEHERES BENERH HEER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and WIS (EEFITEAEE)

Chief Executive Officer) 6/6 11
Mr. Wang Yijun FEERSE 6/6 1/1
Non-executive Directors JEHITES
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick =DMEE 6/6 11
Mr. Huang Man Yem =X ERE 6/6 1/1
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng ERERE 5/6 0/1
Ms. Fong Man, Julisa Nt ® ks squmiiil 2/2 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors &I JEMITESE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MR L 3/6 11
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy KA E 5/6 11
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin THERIELS 6/6 1/1
Note ():  Ms. Fong Man, Julisa was appointed as a non-executive Director on 31 [ifa#(l). FH# X +HK —F _[F+ _F=+—

December, 2024.

Note (ii):  Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong,
Clifford were appointed after the Reporting Period and as such, did not
attend any board or general meeting held during the period.

Code Provision C.1.6

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as equal Board
members, should attend general meetings of the Company to gain and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders.

Reason for Deviation

During the Reporting Period, one general meeting of the Company was
held. Mr. Jiang Jiansheng, a non-executive Director, was absent from
the special general meeting held on 30 September 2024 due to his
personal issue.

HBEZEBIFNTESE-

BB AE SR 1B L R (2L E
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and funding
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors had provided to the
Company a record of their CPD training by attending seminars and
conferences, taking courses and reading materials. A summary of
training topics covered is as follow:

RHEEEEE
RIFEFEE G TRIBITRMESCEC.1.4105%
CREFRSAFBEXERTE UE
EREMENESRZE BRERFES
EREEERDREMZEN - AR EE
BEZHREPEI THEFZAE B
FERBETUBEZER-

BHE_E-_AF-RB=+—HILEE &
BEEHERALABRERESHEFES
xRSzt B EHEWET
KetmE ~EERE REEEIIME 1523
HEZRESRTWMT

Topics of Training
& FIRRE

Legal/ Group
Accounting/ Corporate Business/
Name of Director Financial Governance Directors Duties
xRS EEER
EEHRS Bt/ B EEEE EEHE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang B 4 4
Mr. Wang Yijun FTRELE v v
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick mERE v v v
Mr. Huang Man Yem BXELE v v
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng ERERSE v v/
Ms. Fong Man, Julisa Nete ® B = v v v
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MBI 4 v v 4
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy HKRAEE v v v
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FTHEMEL v v
Note ():  Ms. Fong Man, Julisa was appointed as a non-executive Director on 31 [ifa#(). FH# X +RK —F _fIF+ _H=+—

December, 2024.

Note (i): Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong,
Clifford have not been included as they were appointed after the
Reporting Period.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING

The Group seeks to conduct its business honestly and with integrity at
all times. Anti-corruption and whistleblowing are essential to establishing
a healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical standards within
the organisation.

The Group has adopted its Best Practice and Guideline on
Occupational Code of Ethics (the “Code”), setting a clear anti-
corruption policy that supports the compliance of anti-corruption laws
and regulations as well as to promote an anti-corruption culture within
the organisation. The Code provides guidelines on handling conflicts
of interests and restrictions on the acceptance of advantages from
business partners. Anti-corruption training is provided as part of the
onboarding process and on an ongoing basis to ensure the Company’s
expectations are effectively communicated to all levels of staff.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy
who was the chairman of the committee, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man
Yem.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviews and supervises the
Group’s accounting policies and financial reporting, risk management
and internal control practices, maintains an appropriate relationship
with the external auditors and ensures the regulatory compliance of the
Group.

During the review of financial statements, the management reported the
liquidity position of the Group and measures taken/to be taken to enable
the Group to sustain as a going concern. The Audit Committee was
aware of the matter as one of the key audit matters and to be included
in the section under material uncertainty related to going concern in
the Independent Auditor’s Report for 2024/25 consolidated financial
statements. The Audit Committee did not express any disagreement
with the management’s assessment concerning the going concern
assumptions in the preparation of the 2024/25 consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of Audit Committee meetings during the year ended 31
March 2025 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

BIZZEY

RIE_HFE=A=+—H BRZZEEY
H=2BIIFRITESHKREE (BEE
BEIF) MANLEREERTLR—
BIFRTEFEXEEMEM-

ERZECREERTIEEFSER 5
HRUNMBHRR AREERABEE
iR BEMFEIINBRBET ZBF UKk
BRAEEREEGH

EERVMBGERERPE EEBENAER
ZEREMN K B R R 2 FE
EHIRE  UEFEREENFELEE - BiZ
ZEERRRFESHARERFEZ —
WHRMAZZE N,/ —HEFGRAaMBRRE
ZEIUIZBEMRENAFEECERRCE
AP EERAR A -BELEEGULEL
BRGE_ZT M/ _HEFRAMBRE
ZRBEERRZEEETGRTEMNR
ROkt

HE_ S _H1F=-RA=+—HILEFE T
ZEEEgHEZEEAMEIWT :

Audit Committee

Meetings

Attended/Held and

Eligible to Attend
BERZEEERHERYE

EERARES BITRYREEHERH
Chairman of Audit Committee ERZEEXE

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy KR EE 3/3
Members [54=}

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie BRI A E 3/3
Mr. Huang Man Yem BNELE 3/3
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEFRIEL 3/3

Note: Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong,
Clifford were appointed after the Reporting Period and as such, did not
attend any Audit Committee meeting held during the period.

Wiat . BSEBmIEE R IEL REEELE

AR R R 2 AF - RIUL 18 F 00 K
BRI FEREE S EHF-
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out as follows:

° reviewed the half-yearly and annual financial statements and
reports and recommended to the Board for adopt and approval;

° reviewed the performance and independence of the external
auditor and recommended the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor;

° reviewed and approved the audit plan for the year ended 31
March 2025;

° reviewed the independence of external auditors and its
engagement letter and approved the engagement;

° reviewed and approved engagements of respective independent
external professionals to assess the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control system and compliance of
environmental and social regulations of the Group; and

° reviewed the respective compliance and risk and internal control
assessment reports, and the corporate governance review report
of the Group.

The Audit Committee had recommended to the Board on consideration
of the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as external
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie
who was the chairman of the committee, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, Dr.
Wang Wei Hsin and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration structure
and policy for all Directors and senior management, reviewing specific
remuneration packages, ensuring a formal and transparent process is
in place to develop remuneration policy and no Director takes part in
decisions regarding their own remuneration.
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

BE_T_RF=-—RA=+—HLEEE #
MEEEEZ L HEABEIOT

Remuneration
Committee Meetings
Attended/Held and
Eligible to Attend

HFNEE g g

HERYBITRER
EERERES BEHERY
Chairman of Remuneration Committee HNEEEERE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MERIEE 1/
Members RE
Mr. Huang Man Yem BEXHERE 11
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy KR E 11
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEREL 1/1

Note: Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and Mr. Choi Wai Hong,
Clifford were appointed after the Reporting Period and as such, did not
attend any Remuneration Committee meeting held during the period.

In accordance with its terms of reference which have been revised
in December 2022, the Remuneration Committee is responsible for,
among other things:

° reviewed the Directors’ fee for the period and recommended to
the Board for approval;

° reviewed and assessed the remuneration policy and structure of
the Group;
° reviewed the appointment of Chief Executive Officer and

recommended to the Board the adjustment of monthly
salary considered his dual capacity as Chairman and the
responsibilities undertaking; and

° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the period
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Remuneration Band

Wiat : BSEmITE R IBL REEELE
REREHEEZF UK F AL
BRI Z FHNES S S -

RER-_Z - _F+ B ETRMERS
B #HHNEZEETEE HPha):

s BEHANEFHESTAESS LM
R

o W RFEAEREZ M EBRAR
R

e BHTHBHZZE UNREEHS
RIFBZESEENEBERERAE
EEEZABHEBF K

o RER/HHMEBELTRAEITE
ETRRDEENER

ZREERIRZHFMNEBEN G HR
K10 BE—_E-_FEF=B=+—H
IEFEERFNARNE D SREBASH
& T

Number of Persons as
Senior Management

#ri4E Bl BHREEASARK
Nil to HK$2,000,000 Z%2,000,00078 7T 8
HK$2,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 2,000,0017 70 %5,000,00078 7T 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee comprised one
executive Director, Mr. Zhao Xu Guang who was the chairman of the
committee and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
To Wing Tim, Paddy, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for review of the composition
of the Board in terms of board structure, size and diversity, review of
the board diversity policy, determination of the policy for the nomination
of Directors and identification of potential candidates for directorship,
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment,
re-election or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, assessment of the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and review of the time commitment of each Director.
The selection criteria and procedures for the selection and nomination
of Directors are set out in the Nomination Policy, which is also published
on the Company'’s website.

The attendance of Nomination Committee meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

REEET

N _E_HEFE=ZR=+—H 12&EEg
H—%HITESFHBHAE BEEETE
&) R Z 2B IERITERHARILE M
BRI R E4EFIE T4EAT o

RREECTEERNEFTEAEEFER
B ABRMEZTE BN B E
FEEMEZTEHR BERAEFER
WHEBEEENE UEE -EMEE
ERNBIESESAREFIRNZHINES
SFEEZ FEBUFATESTZEIL
M URBAESESENHZHE HERH
EETEENURBRERREREFNIES
KR AR A AR HEER -

HE_ T _HAF=ZA=+—HLEEFEE &
LEEEgHEIHEEAMEIWT

Nomination
Committee Meetings
Attended/Held and
Eligible to Attend

REEZEEEEE
HERYBITRER
EERERES BENERH
Chairman of Nomination Committee REEZEEEERE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang B E 1/1
Members [74=1
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MR 1/
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy KRG E 1/
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEFEL 11

Note: Ms. Fong Man, Julisa, Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Dr. Chang Sun Bun, Benson and
Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford were appointed after the Reporting Period and
as such, did not attend any Nomination Committee meeting held during
the period.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other things:

° reviewed the composition of the Board in terms of board
structure, size and diversity policy;

° reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° reviewed the time commitment of each Director to discharge their
responsibilities as Director;

° reviewed the retirement by rotation requirement and nominated
the Directors for re-election; and

° reviewed the Group’s business plan and recommended to the
Board to appoint the Chairman of the Board to act as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company to ensure the business plan can
be effectively implemented.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board undertakes the corporate governance function for the Group
with assistance of the Audit Committee, which (1) develops and reviews
the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group, (2)
reviews and monitors legal and regulatory compliance of the Group,
(8) reviews the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, (4) reviews and monitors the code
of conduct applicable to employees and directors and (5) reviews the
issuer's compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance rather than the elimination of the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is designed for
assurance of the Group’s assets and that Shareholders’ investments are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The risk management and internal control framework of the Group
are developed and reviewed annually based on Integrated Framework
released by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (collectively the “COSO Framework”) which
includes the following procedures:

° identify risks of the Group’s and evaluate the level of the risks and
impacts on regular basis;

° report the high risks to the management to discuss the approach
and measures to manage those risks;

° implement the measures to manage the risks as management
advised;

° review regularly whether the measures have been implemented
and appropriate at current situation;

EEERMAE
EFgHEERZEEZH T RELRERE
ZhEEERBE HEASBEMBERR
SNAEERZEEERABERKER > 2@
ERTERZEZRKREEGRER Q)
BMNEERSREEABZFIIRFTESE
FER WRIAEREANEERES
ZIRTRD REBHFITABTTAZ
BRERREEREAREANZIKE -

[ Bz E IR e PO B B 4
EFgHIHANAREERABEEZER
mas TAESERSHEBERE -AEHE
ZABEEEAEBREFERREMHGE
REMIFEREZBREFBRZ AR
&= BEEMPIEERERRAFIERE
HEEMIFEH ZRE - HRFIEHRE
FEBECZEERRRZREERENEE
REFAI T ERANRE X RIEEER
ZERBET NEEZ Gt ERER
B UIRBREG BOERESET

[ B HR TR PO BB B AR AE IR
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° review annually the whole risk management and internal control
practices;

° report the effectiveness of the measures and the risk management
and internal control systems;

° adjust the risks approach and measures if consider appropriate;
and

° monitor the risks on a regular basis.

For the scope limitation issue set out at the independent auditor report,
the management of the Company has followed the standard procedures
to collect and monitor the Receivables, including: (1) timely monitoring
the status of the Receivables by taking site visits; (2) issuance of
demand letters and legal letters from time to time; (3) preparation for the
litigation against Energy Technology if the payment of Receivables has
defaulted, if any; and (4) negotiation about the repayment schedule of
the Receivables. The Company considers that the underlying causes of
the scope limitation were not caused by internal control deficiencies.

The Board considers that the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a whole. The
Board further considers that there was no issue relating to the material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions of the Group.

Independent Assessment

To ensure the independent review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, the Group engaged
independent external professionals to perform an annual review and
assessment of the risk management and internal control system of
the Group covering the year ended 31 March 2025 to ensure the
compliance with relevant regulations and rules. The review report was
submitted to the Audit Committee.

Review of the Effectiveness

The Audit Committee reviewed the relevant report and considered that
the Group’s risk management and internal control system, based on
the COSO Framework, is adequate and that the practice is effective, as
the Group had complied with the provisions on risk management and
internal controls as set out in the CG Code.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCY AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process of the financial statements. The Audit Committee
was of the view that the Company’s auditor, Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited, is independent.

During the year, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited had rendered audit
services and non-audit services to the Group. The non-audit services
mainly consist of review and other reporting services. The remuneration
paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service Rendered

M 2 |3 1 R B ==
BEZZEERAERRA RERZHMZ
B UEERMBREBEZEFZEE
MRERME - BREEERR/ERBZZ
MR EZEESMESMERARDEE
SAZEREM o

FR PEZRESSHMEFMERATE
PEEBRRHELRE RIFELRT - IF
BEZRFIEOEERKREMERRS
FEBEN ENEMSHRIIMT

Fees Paid/Payable

Friz (AR TS e ERER
HKS$
BT
Audit Services EIZIRTS 950,000
Non-Audit Services JEEIZARTS Nil %%

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and applicable regulatory and legal requirements.
The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the “going concern” basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. The Statements of the Auditor on its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 108 in this Annual
Report.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL

ESMUBRRAKIEZEE
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out the
objective and strategies to achieve diversity on the Board, taking into
consideration a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments wiill
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The following table sets out the
gender ratio in the workforce of the Group in Hong Kong, including the
Board and senior management as at 31 March 2025:

HAZ Tt

AABRERFEEZBEMERNZ T
ARAFCHEMEFTEMEZTIEHR B
hHIBREFEMEZTIENERKR

B> ZEEEBARIN MR F8 - XX
%ﬁﬁ;’ﬁ% HELR K -NARRBE

PEZERE-EFTEMEZEHUAA
A RRA WURRFEEBIRENF
RERDBENREFTNEZTIENED
%ﬁ%ﬂﬂi%)\%&—%%%mfb%ﬁﬁﬁ%%

BEERRNMER  F8 - XERHEB
’“% TR BEE R wAE -~ A B R RS
FH - TREJIAEEEEBET (BRES
ghEREER) N _Z2AF=R=+—
HB91ERI A

Female Male

Zit B

Percentage Percentage

(number of (number of

person) person)

BA (AR BAH (AR

Board A 11% (1) 89% (8)
Senior Management ShEER 100% (1) 0% (0)
Other employees HiER 40% (2) 60% (3)
Overall workforce BREET 27% (4) 73% (11)

Details on the gender ratio of the Group in Mainland China, together
with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 60 to 103 of this Annual Report.
Currently, the Board consists of only male members. Having reviewed
the Board composition, the Board recognises the importance and
benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and shall continue to
review the gender diversity of the Group from time to time to ensure
its appropriateness and take initiatives to identify female candidate(s)
to enhance the gender diversity among the Board members, such
that there is a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in the future.
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Selection of candidates as Board members will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, expertise or professional experience. The
Board intends to maintain at least one female Director on the Board
going forward. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions which the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the Company
and considers that the Company’s corporate culture is aligned. The
Group is committed to investing in the industry of trading of coke,
washing of raw coal into refined coal and the sale of electricity and heat
generated as by-products, and the processing of refined coal, creating
value for consumers, and delivering attractive and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing operating environment, the
Group places strong emphasis on workplace safety, employee relations
and the efficient use of materials, energy and resources, promoting a
culture of ethical conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is
important to good corporate governance which is crucial for achieving
sustainable long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability governance,
strengthening the management and control of corporate development’s
impact on the environment and society, and creating value for our
stakeholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s
ESG strategy and reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance
of the Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular review of
the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered, among others, (i)
the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of those relating to Group’s ESG performance
and reporting; (i) the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature
and extent of significant ESG risks (if any); and (jii) the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of ESG risks. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 60 to 103 of this Annual Report.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to exercise certain rights pursuant to the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Bye-Laws of the Company and the
CG Code under the Listing Rules.

Convene Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws of the
Company, on requisition of Shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition (the “Request Submission Date”) not less
than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the Request
Submission Date carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, Directors shall proceed duly to convene a special general
meeting of the Company (a “SGM”).

The requisition, may consist of several documents in like form each
signed by one or more Shareholders, must (1) state the purposes of
the SGM, (2) be signed by the Shareholders and (3) deposited at the
registered office of the Company for attention of Company Secretary.
Such requisitions will be subject to verification by the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, and upon its confirmation that the
requisition is in order, the Company Secretary shall inform the Board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders under
the Bye-Laws. If requisition be verified as not in order, Shareholder(s) will
be notified of such results and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened
as requested.

If Directors do not within 21 days from the Request Submission Date
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the Shareholders or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the Request
Submission Date. A SGM convened on requisition of Shareholders
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
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Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number
of Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, or not less than 100 Shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists, or two or more copies
which between them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists,
must be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong with deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the company’s expenses in giving effect thereto (i)
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than 6
weeks before the meeting or (i) in the case of any other requisition, not
less than one week before the meeting. Provided that if after a copy of
the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
principal office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date within 6
weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, such requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with Shareholders and strives to ensure timeliness, completeness and
accuracy of information disclosure to Shareholders and to protect the
interests of Shareholders.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy and
reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. As a channel
to further promote effective communication, the Group maintains a
website allowing Shareholders to access updates on the Company’s
particulars where the Company’s announcements, financial information,
shareholders’ communication policy and other information are posted.

The Board maintains an on-going dialogue with Shareholders through
general meeting of the Company to communicate with Shareholders.
The chairman of the Board, the representative of each committee and
the external auditor attend the general meeting to answer any questions
from Shareholders.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website,
www.huscoke.com, where information and updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access.

The relevant part of the shareholders’ communication policy was
reviewed during the year through discussions amongst Board members
during board meetings. The channels for Shareholders to communicate
their views on various matters affecting the Company and the steps
to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders
were considered to be sufficient. The Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy through communication activities and engagement with
Shareholders conducted during the year and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy which allowed Shareholders to engage actively with the
Company.
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Shareholders Enquires and Investor Relations

Shareholders are welcome to make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

For enquiries about your shareholdings on the Company, registered
Shareholders may at any time direct contact the Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar of the Company:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Telephone: 2980 1333

E-mail: is-enquiries@vistra.com

For any other enquiries, Shareholders may at any time send enquiries to
the Company:

Investor Relations
Huscoke Holdings Limited
Room 3604-05, 36th Floor
Tower One, Lippo Centre

89 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

Telephone: 2861 0704
E-mail: ir@huscoke.com
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Overview

Huscoke Holdings Limited (‘Huscoke” or the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”, “We” or “Our”),
is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “ESG Report” or the “Report’) to stakeholders. This Report
describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken by the
Group from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”,

the “Year” or “2025").

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments, namely:
(i) trading of coke and coal (the “Coke Trading Segment”); (i) washing
of raw coal into refined coal for sale and for further processing, and
the sale of electricity and heat which are generated as by-products
produced during washing of raw coal (the “Coal-related Ancillary
Segment”); and (i) processing of refined coal into coke for sale, and
sale of coke by-products that are generated during coke production (the
“Coke Production Segment”).The reporting scope mainly covers the
Group’s office in Hong Kong, and plant area, which includes two coking
furnaces that have not yet been put into operation, in Xiaoyi, Shanxi
Province.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).
During the preparation for this Report, the Group applied the reporting
principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: A high priority is given to issues important to the Group and
its stakeholders. Throughout the interaction with internal management,
employees and external stakeholders, the Group has identified
various material sustainability issues that need to be addressed. The
preparation of this Report was based on these material issues. Please
refer to the Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment
sections for further details.

Quantitative: Quantitative information is provided so that a measurable
target can be set and the ESG performance can be evaluated
objectively. Additional clarifications have been added to the quantitative
data in this Report to explain any standards, methodologies and
conversion factors used in calculating emissions and energy
consumption.
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Balance: In this Report, the Group provides an unbiased picture of its
ESG performance by reviewing and disclosing the achievements, areas
for improvement, and plans.

Consistency: This Report’s scope and preparation are substantially
consistent with the previous year, and explanations regarding data with
a change in the scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies are
provided.

Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on the current
expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of
the Group about the businesses and the markets in which it and its
subsidiaries operate. The forward-looking statement is not a guarantee
of future performance and is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and
factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes
and returns may differ from the assumptions and statements in this
Report.

Contact Us

We welcome stakeholders to provide opinions and suggestions. You
are welcome to provide valuable feedback on this ESG Report or our
sustainability performance at:

Address: Room 3604-05, 36/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong

Email: ir@huscoke.com

Website: https://huscoke.com/en/
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BOARD STATEMENT AND ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board Statement

Having a robust ESG governance structure is crucial to addressing
sustainability issues as part of the Group’s corporate agenda. As part
of its efforts to achieve this goal, the Group has established a top-down
governance framework to ensure that ESG is aligned with its strategic
growth objectives for the integration of ESG into business activities. The
chart below sets forth our governance structure consisting of the Board
of Directors (the “Board”) and the ESG Taskforce.

The Board - Decision-making Level
° Oversee ESG-related approach, strategy, and policies

° Assess materiality issues, risks and opportunities

° Set goals and targets, and oversee the Group’s sustainability
performance

° Review and approve the ESG Report

ESG Taskforce - Management and Implementation Level
° Identify and report on material ESG issues, risks and opportunities

° Implement sustainability initiatives, review the related policies and
practices and assess and make recommendations on matters
concerning strategy and governance

° Evaluate the sustainability performance and progress made
against targets

The Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing all ESG issues of the Group.
It holds the ultimate responsibility for monitoring the Group’s ESG
performance, as well as ESG management approach, strategy and
policies. To advance the Group’s ESG performance and identify
potential risks and opportunities, the Board conducts regular materiality
assessments with the assistance of the ESG Taskforce to evaluate
and prioritise material ESG issues with reference to the opinions of our
stakeholders. The Board stipulates the Group’s long-term and near-term
sustainability commitment, goals and targets to drive aspirations and
innovation. We have top-level commitment and endorsement of policies
and frameworks to define our path towards sustainability.
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The ESG Taskforce

The ESG Taskforce is made up of core members from different
departments and operational teams with approval by the Board. It
assists the Board with the assessment of material issues, risk and
opportunities, and the efficient implementation of policies.

The duties of the ESG Taskforce include ESG data collection and data
analysis for the ESG report. The ESG Taskforce is also responsible
for monitoring and evaluating ESG performance to ensure regulations
are fully complied. Regular meetings are carried out to assess the
effectiveness of the current policies for ongoing improvements.

The ESG Taskforce discusses material ESG topics in a timely manner
and integrates ESG concerns into strategy development for risk
management and opportunities optimisation. Through analysis and
discussion, the ESG Taskforce sets out different ESG initiatives as part
of the sustainable development process, turning the identified threats
into opportunities through policy formulation and implementation.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the feedback of stakeholders on the Group’s
sustainable development. To enhance communication with
stakeholders, we encourage their active feedback on the Group’s
strategy via different channels. We are committed to understanding
and meeting stakeholders’ ever-changing expectations to improve
ESG performance and continue to create greater value for the wider
community.

Stakeholders Engagement Channels
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Expectations
HAE

Investors and Shareholders

KREERRRE

Annual General Meeting
RERBFERE
e Financial Statements
M ERR
e Announcements and Circulars
NEFIBR
e Seminars

=

e Compliant Operation
BIREE

e [nformation Disclosure
EERE

e Financial Performance
M RIA

e Corporate Governance
TEER
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Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expectations
= AERA A BEERE HiE
Customers e  Company Website e Quality Services
R NGRS = E =R
e Corporate Reports and e Personal Safety
Announcements BAZZE
rERERAE e Business Ethics
e Hotline and Emails FEEBE
AR ERE S BES e Privacy Protection
ThBEIREE

Suppliers/Subcontractors

HEs HaE

Employees

B&

e Supplier Meetings and Interviews
HAERE & & R

e Periodic Assessments
TE BAET

e Open Tendering
NEETEN

e Regular Meetings
ERE

e (Circulars and Manuals
fEESES

e Company Website
NE)HGIL

e Employee Opinion Surveys
BEERRFAE

e Regular Meetings
EHEE

e Performance Appraisal
RIEHE

e Employee Activities
EEEE

e Professional Training

xSl
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e  Seamless Communication
BHER

e Contract Performance

BHET

e Business Ethics
EEERE

e Win-win Cooperation
EHERAF

e Information Resources Sharing
ERERAEE

e |ong-term Partnership
REAB HRIAR

e Health and Safety
REHEZS

e Equal Opportunities
TEHE

e Welfare and Benefits
&+

e Career Development
R

e |egal Rights and Interests
EERE T
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Stakeholders
M AERE S

Engagement Channels
BHEEE

Expectations
HAE

Government/Regulators

KA, BB i

Community and the Media

&K REE

e Corporate Reports and
Announcements
PERERAE

e On-site Inspections
H5mE

e Field Trips
BihZ 5

e Tax Payments
min

e Community Involvement
HEZSHE

e Community Investment Programs
HEREEE

e ESG Report
RIE-HERERRS

Through ongoing stakeholder engagement, the Group gains valuable
insights into their expectations and concerns. The feedback gathered
enables the Group to make informed decisions and enhances the ability
of the Group to assess and manage potential ESG risks.

Taxation Compliance
MBEHR
Employment Growth
MELE

Regulatory Compliance
BEESR

Security Operations
BREE

Business Ethics
[EESER

Community Contributions
HEEER
Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Transparent Information
ERER

ERNmBEELFES R AEBREAT
REMERRE WENREESAER
FESEHABRE » WRIEARE FEFE K
BEEBTRE - HERERRRIET -
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

TS

Through the materiality review, the ESG Taskforce has identified and
assessed relevant ESG issues based on the Group’s businesses based
and circumstances. The Group collected responses, analysed the
results, and presenting them in a materiality matrix. The matrix was
reviewed by the Board and senior management to ensure its alignment
with the Group’s business objectives and its representativeness. Below
is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues during the Reporting

BREBEMNE RE - HEREBIIEN
MERBAEEEBERKBER &5
SHEERIRRE L EREAZRB AEER
ENBEER -NMER URAREREE
EMERER ZEREEETGRSRERE
BER UEERENTEAEEEFBERIL
BERKRM - THERERAEENRESH

Period, presented in the following matrix: BNEXRRE -HEREAZENE .

The Group’s Materiality Matrix

66

o A EENEEIER
= A 5. Climate Risks and
Response )
2. Energy Consumption U [ e FE T
and Management o)
8. Employee Training and AETRHAE R B o O
Dﬁvgi’ pme;“ 3.Waste and Wastewater 1)
BEEEIRER Management
» 9. Labour Standards Oy EE KSR [e)
fud B
% ﬁlﬂ BIRE O o) 0o 7. Occupational Health
S i 4. Natural Environment 6. Employment Practices and Safety
S8 Protection TREE R EREZS
'E‘u +Q BAIRIG fReE 1. Emission Control | 10. Supply Chain
9= 13. Intellectual Property O £z ezl Management
cm Protection o {HAESREIR
B =
S 1 AIBERERE 15. Anti-Corruption ) .
o= i Ra= 14. Privacy Protection
g;ﬁ. 11. Customer Service 0o o / FARB(RE
£ BRI
(e}
o 12. Product and Service
Quiality
16. Community ERkREES
Investment
HERE &
»
Low impact on business High
8 HEBOPE 5
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The Group strictly complies with the statutory requirements in respect
of the identified material aspects. Corresponding management practices
and policies are being formulated and/or implemented following the
identification of these issues. The Group will continue to improve its
ESG management and performance by actively communicating with its
stakeholders and constantly improving its internal policies.

ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS

In order to achieve long-term sustainability development goals, the
Group has set forth a series of ESG objectives. Through effective
implementation, we will turn our aspirations into practice and achieve
the following waste reduction and resource optimisation goals. As
stated in last year's ESG report, due to major operational changes to the
reporting scope, we have established new five-year environment targets
as below, using 2025 as the base year, with the intensity reduction goals
targeted to be achieved by 2030:

Area Targets
I B

AEECHERNHNENZERREE
SEEER W HEAHZEREREE
K/ REBHRENEREG REK KE
EREZEEEEN MRS R EE RS
By EHABEER LEERSHIRE 1t
EREREERKR-

RIEER

HERUFEZRNENER A5EE
HE—RIRE - HERERBR - ZBAE
BT PR EERERBEE  ER TS
BEYHERERBIEER WEFIRFE 1
EREABREFL AERSEENEKX
EESF RMAEBU_S_HAFAEERF
BUMNTMHNAEFREER Bt _ZF
—EFENENTEEREAER

Electricity Consumption
=) year

WZEBThFEREEF F"F=F

Water Consumption
FAK

Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”) Emissions
RERE

(FRERAR)) HE

Reduce 5% in electricity consumption intensity by 2030, using 2025 as the base
FRRABEEERES%

Reduce 5 % in water consumption intensity by 2030, using 2025 as the base year
U -RFEARES B "= FERHKBERES%
Reduce 5 % in GHG emissions intensity by 2030, using 2025 as the base year

UWZEB-hFEREES I _Z=TFRBEREINEEREES%
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The overall sustainability commitment of the Group reinforces
the concept of creating an “ecological Shanxi” promoted by the
central, regional, and local government. The Group’s business
value and management approaches focus on serving people,
homeland and society. The Group aims to become fully vertically
integrated along the coal industry supply chain, from downstream
trading to midstream processing and upstream ancillary
businesses.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations in relation to air and greenhouse gases (“GHG”),
emissions, discharges into water and land discharges, and
the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation, Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control (General) Regulations,
Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance, the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC, and the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes of the PRC, Document
No. 39 2019: Notice on Shanxi’s Blue-Sky Protection 2019
Action Plan, Regulation of Shanxi on Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution, Permit on Effluent Management Policy
(Trial), etc.

Emissions

Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not own any vehicles
or mobile machinery, and therefore, no air emissions were
recorded. In the future, if the Group decides to purchase a new
car, we will prioritise electric vehicles to reduce the use of fossil
fuels and minimise the carbon footprint associated with GHG
emissions.
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BERE (TEERAE) K
FEBEBERE (BERE) ST
2RRAEEPNE LR BRI (8
BT - A NEHEEREHFNKE
B AEEEBERZ RGN BT
FHBACAEIRFER » WA MR T T8E
REEI—#e

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The primary contributors to the Group’s greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions are the indirect emissions (Scope 2) resulting from
purchased electricity. To effectively address GHG emissions,
the Group has implemented various measures with a focus on
optimising energy usage, as outlined in the “Energy Management”
section below.

Indicators’ Unit 2025 2024
i B —ERE B OE

tCO2¢e - -
U ==

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)

HiFRERAEHR (EE—)

Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO2e 7.50 7.58*
MERERBHR EEI) WSt ES
— Purchased electricity 7.50 7.58"
—BE
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope3) tCO2e 1.65 1.18
HitfEaEREHiN EES) WS biRES
— Electricity used for processing fresh tCO2e
water and sewage 0.06 0.10

—RIBMKRI5IKAE WSt ES
— Paper disposed at landfills tCO2e 0.36 0.32
—REIE & R IR EE AR W EEiRES
— Business air travel by employees tCO2e 1.23 0.76
—EEEBMEEIK WSt ESE
Total GHG emissions tCO2e

(Scope 1 & Scope 2 & Scope 3) 9.15 8.76"
mERBBHRES WE_EfbikE S

(BE—RBE_UKRBER=)
Total GHG emission intensity? tCOz2e/employee 0.61 0.58*
RERBBHRERE WSt ESE

(==

Total GHG emission intensity® tCO26/m? total area 0.0003 0.0003

BE RS R S

WB_atiE2
EHAKEEE
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Notes:

1. Emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and is based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by
the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the HKEX, the latest released average carbon dioxide emission
factor for national electricity in China, published by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment in December, 2024 and the “2024
Sustainability Report” published by Hong Kong Electric Investments
Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2025, the total number of full-time employees within
the reporting scope of the Group was 15 (as at 31 March 2024
15). This data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

3. As at 31 March 2025, the total floor area of the Group within the
reporting scope was approximately 26,376.00 n¥ (2024.: 26,376.00
m?). These numbers would also be used for calculating other
intensity data in the ESG Report.

The data has been restated due to an updated calculation model.

Waste Management

The Group recognises the impact of waste disposal associated
with its business activities and is dedicated to improving its
management of both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. In
line with its Environmental Policy, the Group actively encourages
practices that support reuse and recycling in daily operations,
explores the use of sustainable materials, and implements
technologies to minimise waste generation. Additionally, the Group
takes all necessary precautions to ensure that the handling and
disposal of hazardous materials comply with relevant regulations.

Non-hazardous waste

Due to the disposal of its business operations in GRG Huscoke
(Shan Xi) Ltd, the Group no longer generates any substantial
amount of non-hazardous waste. While the Group’s Hong Kong
office generates small amounts of domestic and office waste, this
amount is considered insignificant and, as such, the Group had
not kept relevant records.
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Hazardous waste

Due to the disposal of its power plant, heating plant, material
plants, and other facilities during the Reporting Period, and the
coking furnaces have not yet been put into operation, the Group
did not generate any significant amounts of hazardous waste
during the Reporting Period. Hazardous waste is collected and
treated by external parties, which include municipal hazardous
waste treatment plants, or appointed recyclers. As for chemicals,
to avoid pollution to the environment and increase effort in cleaner
production, waste products, such as liquified natural gas, are
recycled by downstream factories to extract and reproduce
chemicals like, synthetic ammonia, urea, and ethylene glycol. This
will then be used again by the coal industry.

The Group aims to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing
the amounts of non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste
generated in the next reporting year.

Sewage Discharge

The Group continuously conserves water resources and recycles
water whenever possible. Wastewater would be concentrated,
filtered, and monitored to ensure its parameters (e.g., pH,
suspended sol ids, total phosphorus, total nitrogen, volatile
phenol, polyaromatic hydrocarbon (PAH), benzene, BOD, CODcr)
are within permissible level set by GB16171-2012 Emission
Standard of Pollutants for Coking Chemical Industry, before they
would be sent for consumption by the second time for processes
such as coking, coal quenching, chemicals treatment, and
biochemical sewage treatment. They will finally be completely
absorbed or used up, thus, not discharged.

Use of Resources

To manage resource usage and minimise the use of non-
essential materials, the Group has implemented the Environmental
Protection Policy and Sustainability Policy. These policies serve as
guiding principles for the Group’s commitment towards reducing
its environmental impact. Through daily operations, the Group
actively seeks ways to enhance and improve environmental
practices. By continuously striving for sustainability, the Group
aims to minimise its ecological footprint and contribute to a more
environmentally operation mode to all aspects of its work.
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Electricity consumption in our office is the principal type of energy
used in our business operations. This encompasses the energy
required to power office equipment, lighting, heating and cooling
systems. By understanding our electricity usage, we can identify
opportunities for increased efficiency and implement sustainable
practices to reduce our overall energy consumption. The Group’s

energy consumption details are as follows:

BERETE
MAENBIHEDEMERE
FRAMN T EikREE aa‘%?%##Aax
R HERRSAGHEERE
BEER B T I ENERE
o HFRERIR S MR ERE
TRFEBRE U EIRMRERRAE
FOHFE - RE BRI AERHFEF BN
T

Category of Energy Consumption Unit 2025 2024
Re R HFELE R Bl “E-hHE =S )= 2
Direct Energy Consumption
BEEREIRHE
e Petrol MWh - -
;i JKFLEF
Indirect Energy Consumption
FiZRETRIHFE
e Purchased Electricity MWh 19.72 19.94
B JEEBF
Total Energy Consumption MWh 19.72 19.94
RETRHTEARE JKFLEF
Total Energy Consumption Intensity? MWh/employee 1.31 1.45
e R EE KEE /&1
Total Energy Consumption Intensity® MWh/m? total area 0.0007 0.0008
RERHFEAR T ES JKEE
T KEERE

We actively implement the concept of energy saving and emission
reduction. All employees must follow the adopted measures and
assume responsibility for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. We
will investigate the unusual or unanticipated increase in electricity
consumption to find out the root causes and take corresponding
preventive measures. Various rules and regulations have been
established to achieve the goal of saving electricity and using
electricity efficiently, as illustrated below:

o Install energy-efficient lighting systems, such as LED light
bulbs;

o Purchase of energy-efficient products and services;

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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° Introduce motion-sensor devices to reduce electricity usage
in unmanned areas; and

° Conduct regular energy efficiency analysis and set interim
goals.

By implementing these energy-saving practices and continuously
reviewing their effectiveness, the Group is committed to
reducing its environmental impacts and working towards a more
sustainable future.

Water Management

The Group’s water consumption is mainly attributable to the use
of water in the office premises. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not encounter any issue in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose due to the geographic location where its operation is
located.

We are dedicated to saving water resources by using various
practices including regular monitoring of water consumption,
identifying abnormal consumption and preventing leakage. To
use water more efficiently, the Group has further implemented the
following measures:

° Improve water efficiency by installing water-saving
equipment;

° Standardise wastewater treatment methods by developing a
wastewater discharge management system;

° Regular inspect water pipe quality;

o Raise employee awareness on the importance of conserving
water; and

° Research and introduce more advanced wastewater reuse
facilities to increase wastewater reuse rates.

e SIANEHBERBZEELURLVE
ANeNAEE ;&

REHAZEAT BE R0 AT M 5 AL R A

BiRe
BETZEHEERMITE
L3017 K%Iﬂﬁhhﬁﬂﬁﬁw
&> A EMeFERARRMEF

]

N

KEE
FEBBICOEFEETZRRN M ASR
AKX -EHREME AR AERE
EFFENMIENE  AEERLEBE
FEfa] SRERE A AOR £ R RE 8 o

BAPARITRNEBBERAREERDY
KER BREEHEREKE #HA
REEHEKRBLLERRE RS AKY
T AEBEE—FSBITUTHE

@ REKRBIRS AKX

J

%@

s EBHNEBRKIMEERGR
HEEKRIES X ;

s TEHREBEKEEE,

s ReEEEMNEBXKEZEUENE

s> K2

o MEKRSIABRENEKBF
FAE& Tt > LURFHEE KB AX

Index Unit 2025 2024
B¥ Efu ZEZREF —ETNE
Total water consumption m? 139.38 140.22
HFEKE THAK
Water consumption intensity? m3/employee 9.32 9.35
kR B2 YHKSET
Water consumption intensity® m?3/m? total area 0.005 0.005
FEKEES THEKS

FHORMBER
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Use of Packaging Materials

In view of the business nature of the Group, there is no packaging
material used by our Group. The use of packaging material is not
considered a material ESG issue to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

After the local government issued several important policies,
the Group has created and put into place various measures to
manage its environmental impact, including controlling dust,
air emissions, and water discharge. In addition to emissions
and discharges, the Group’s use of groundwater and potential
pollution could affect nearby land and soil quality due to reduced
humidity. The Group will keep monitoring its air emissions, solid
waste, wastewater discharge, and noise levels to minimise any
negative effects on the surrounding environment.

Climate Change

Climate change is the defining crisis of our time. Nowhere on earth
is immune from the devastating consequences of climate change.
The crisis heightens risks from environmental degradation,
natural disasters, extreme weather, food and water insecurity,
economic disruptions, and other conflicts. In the social context,
it exacerbates current health inequities and disproportionately
impacts the most vulnerable populations.

Identification of Climate Risks and Opportunities

In response to stakeholders’ concerns and demand for higher
transparency regarding the climate-related risks and opportunities,
we strive to disclose risks, opportunities and our performance on
climate-related matters to give our stakeholders insight into the
strategic decisions and actions we are taking to address climate
change. In 2025, we preliminarily identified climate-related risks
and opportunities that the Group is facing.

We have taken the necessary steps to identify and assess
the potential materiality of the risks and the opportunities. We
have adopted a balanced approach, in which both positive
and negative impacts will be considered, so we can maximise
the positive impacts and minimise the negative impacts on our
business. Climate-related impacts have been categorised into
physical and transition risks. Physical risks refer to the exposure
of a business and/or value chain to physical hazards associated
with a changing climate. Transition risks refer to the exposure of
a business to regulators and market responses associated with
a transition to a low-carbon economy to address mitigation and
adaptation requirements related to climate change.
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Physical Risks

AR

Risk Type Hazard Description Mitigation Measures
Rk fe& i AR RRYETE

Acute/Chronic Coastal inundation Sea water flooding due to high Explore business interruption

=18 BEER tides and waves can damage insurance to cover potential
coastal land, infrastructure, and losses
buildings. VB EFRERBLURRET
RS R8RS BMNEKE PN
BUERREAE LM B Arrange emergency drill and
R R RS 0 training

Acute Surface flooding Flooding can damage low- RHRZRB R

=4 HEKR lying buildings or infrastructure. Implement work from home
Changes in precipitation in a grrangementlvhen rfcesse:iy
catchment may also cause a KERERBRERTFLH
river to exceed its capacity, Explore and conduct research
inundating nearby areas. on resiliency measures
HkeRBEEHENREY | AROARNER
B EREER i o £ K (& B P& ok Improve crisis management and
ErREERTRhBHAS | restonpans
2 BEHETHE o HEBHEENRELE

Evaluate emergency

Chronic Ext‘lfmewind High wind conditions and management procedures

121 1Bi% & typhpons may affect building I AT
and |nir?structure. e . Develop a strong supply chain
%@m'l\gyﬁfﬁf}ﬁﬂ‘g%%‘@% to ensure timely delivery of
W B ES fff o products

Acute Forest fire A destructive fire that spreads B AN EEELREERESR

= ik via trees and forest may damage T B AT
buildings and infrastructure. Carry out electricity saving
BBBARRMRELERN SR measures
WK AE g R R E R R ER BIEE A
Zliik

Acute/Chronic Extreme heat Electrical and mechanical Modify employees’ work and

=4 1en G e 8 components can fail under rest schedules
extreme heat. B RENEERRER
BRMEMZSHEHRmE A Install cooling facilities at
CBES-EIE operational sites

TEEM R R TR
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Transition Risks HR RS
Type of Risk/
Opportunity Overview Description Mitigation Measures
Rk B 1t Rt ARARIETE
Market/Technology =~ Changing Demand Changing demand may be e Set carbon emission target and
Risk ERE L driven by changing social reduction plan
W5 B Rk attitudes, economic activities, and = EMEIRE R AR EEsT 2
governmental policies, reducing e Implement energy management
demand for our products due to system
inefficient use of energy or GHG BREREERA
emissions. e |Investigate the potential of
EREETHREERE - CKE installing renewable energy
B R BUTE RN E1CPTERS) ) F facilities
RERERAMEEIURERBIN MELZER B ERERRMAE
s HRMERNTK
Market Risk Increasing in Operational expenses, e.g. ® Explore lower cost alternatives for
TG AR Operational Expense  fossil fuel and labour costs, may green production
SERIEM change due to resource scarcity, REGOEENRERAERA
changes in market needs, E3
carbon price implications, and e Provide training to staff to meet
technological innovation. new regulations
SERSZ Blutami ks T AETRMEINTETRE
RA&) B ERERE R HI5E
KEME  BREBAR T B R B BYRT
lize-&
Market Risk Increasing Prices of Supply-side disruptions could e Develop a strong supplier
hiZEE Raw Materials significantly impact raw material relationship with suppliers
B EMER LR costs, which drive up supply chain BHEREUBENHESRE %
costs, and affect our procurement
activities.
HERTFETEERELERM
RERE AN T80 4 = PR S R A
It 5 BB RS B o
Market/ Technology  Increasing Demand Increased demand for green e Closely monitor the market trend
Opportunity for Green Energy energy sources will present new and government's policy direction
Hig,/ FiTEE H4EEAERENRIEN  business opportunities. P ERM BB MBUFRBER

H B AE TR T KIB IR A 2R BY
Bl

B
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SOCIAL
Employment

We aim to play an active role in opening up a world of
opportunities for our colleagues and communities, and inclusion
is instrumental to achieving this goal. It involves a commitment to
remove unnecessary barriers for our people and communities to
realise their potential. Creating an inclusive environment enables
them to flourish and supports the delivery of a thriving society.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare,
that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, and the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

We put great emphasis on attracting and retaining talent. We
recruit the best talent via multiple hiring channels and adhere
to the principles of transparency and fairness in the recruitment
process. We are committed to providing fair opportunities to all
candidates. Factors such as capabilities, academic qualification,
practical working requirements, functional knowledge and
language proficiency are considered recruitment standards under
a transparent and friendly recruitment process.

Promotions of employees are reviewed annually. We have
established objective performance indicators for annual
performance evaluation. The supervisor will discuss with the
employee his/her performance by facilitating effective 2-way
communication for their advancement. Employees are regularly
appraised for their work performance and capabilities to make
progress and enhance team competitiveness, which sets the
basis for their future promotion and training. We also encourage
internal promotion to offer extra opportunities for employees to
develop their full potential.

We offer attractive and competitive remuneration with a wide
range of benefits. We periodically review our compensation
structure to ensure we are able to motivate colleagues in a way
that is authentic to our culture and values. Our approach will
provide colleagues with clear performance expectations, visible
development opportunities and access to resources.
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The Group has a strict policy against unfair employee dismissals. KEBHARNTFHNEEERSTITE T &
To handle dismissals and transitions effectively, the Group ensures HMHNBR AENEEERNEESE
these processes are carried out smoothly and with minimal impact B AEERERZSERIENEE
on productivity. A fair dismissal procedure will be followed, and all HEEWENTLERERME - FMEM
issues will be clearly communicated before any formal dismissal EXERR R EBAFNEE
to avoid conflicts. Additionally, when employees resign, the R FMAMELRESIEEER
Human Resources Department will conduct an exit interview to DR L ERo i HBREER
understand their reasons for leaving, as well as any feedback or B ANBERSBREETERT T
suggestions for improvement. REBERURTARERER
o
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 15 full-time RZE_HFE=ZA=+—H &%&
employees during the Reporting Period. The breakdown is shown RRESHBEEa 12 EHES
below: BRARZ U -
Breakdown of Employees 2025 2024
& S FA4E ZEZhHE —Z T4
Total 15 15
4Est
By Gender
HERIE 2
Male 11 10
Bk
Female 4 5
2z
By Age
HEREI D
Age 30 or below 2 4
30T
Age 31 to 50 6 4
31E508%
Above 50 7 7
5058 &
By Employment Category
HRIEEEN 25
Senior Management Staff 8 8
SREEAE
Middle Management Staff 6 6
RREBAS
General Staff 1 1
EWET
By Geographical Location
IR B B 5
PRC 1 1
H
Hong Kong 14 14
58
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall employee RSB ~EENERBEER
turnover rate was 20%. The breakdown of employees according EH20% © R~ TRl 48 B Ko i 12
to gender group, age group, and geographical location are as BB DN EEREMANT :

follows:

Employee Turnover Rate* 2025 2024

BEmRKLER _ERE —ETOE

Overall 20% 20%

g

By Gender

#HIERIE 3

Male 0% 10%
Bt
Female 75% 40%
pegis
By Age
BERE S
Age 30 or below 50% 75%
30 AT
Age 31 to 50 33% 0%
31E508%
Above 50 0% 0%
50 L

By Geographical Location

IR B B 5
PRC 0% 0%
H
Hong Kong 21% 21%
58

Note: Bt -

4. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees leaving the 4. BAXEFRBIIES S5
Group: the number of employees left during the Reporting Period/ Bl RRGHEERES
total number of employees as at 31 March 2025* 100% N R _E_AF=H=4+—H

HIIESHEN 20100%
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Compensation and Benefits

The Group values employee feedback and provides generous
benefits in return for their hard work. This approach has led to a
low turnover rate, especially among management positions. The
Group not only complies with all relevant laws and regulations
regarding employee benefits and welfare but has also created
its own internal policies. During the Reporting Period, there were
no issues with compliance related to hiring, pay, dismissals,
promotions, work breaks, equal opportunities, diversity, or
benefits.

The Group regularly reviews its salaries to stay competitive.
After thorough market research, it now determines employees’
base salaries based on three main factors: job position, years
of service, and education level. Additionally, the Group aims to
provide comprehensive benefits to retain talent. Some of the perks
employees enjoy including free accommodation, free heating for
home use, affordable meal plans, free access to a well-equipped
gym, and one-time subsidies for employees whose children get
accepted into universities.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

In the Employee Handbook and Employment Agreement, the
Group stipulates the working days and rest time for employees in
accordance with the provisions of the Labour Law of the PRC and
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

Employees are also entitled to various types of paid leave,
including annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, injury leave, compensation leave, and
breastfeeding breaks. The Group follows the principle of treating
all employees equally, regardless of their position.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination
According to the Employee Handbook, employees enjoy equal
opportunities in recruitment, entry, training, promaotion, resignation
and will not be disqualified, subject to any form of discrimination,
harassment or unfair treatment due to gender, disability,
pregnancy, family status, race, skin color, religion, age, sexual
orientation, nationality, trade unions. The Group strives to create
a diversified work environment that encourages employees to
respect different cultures.
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If any employee faces intimidation, humiliation, bullying, or
harassment, including sexual harassment, they have several
options to report these incidents. They can report it to their
supervisors or file complaints directly with the Department
Head. The Group is dedicated to creating a safe and respectful
workplace, and these reporting channels are designed to ensure
that any misconduct is promptly addressed, and appropriate
actions are taken. It is important for employees to feel comfortable
reporting any mistreatment, as the Group takes these issues
seriously and is committed to maintaining a workplace free from
harassment and discrimination.

Employee Communication Channels

The Group highly values employee input and has established
a labour union to effectively represent its workers. This union
serves as a vital channel for employees to voice their complaints,
suggestions, and feedback, ensuring that their needs are clearly
communicated to management. This open line of communication
fosters a deeper understanding between employees and the
Group, leading to a more harmonious workplace.

Recognising that effective communication is crucial for enhancing
teamwork and overall efficiency, the Group takes proactive
steps to encourage collaboration among staff. To strengthen
relationships and promote a sense of community, the Group
actively supports initiatives that allow employees to connect
outside of work. This includes organising local sports teams and
talent shows, which not only provide a fun and engaging way for
employees to interact but also help build camaraderie and trust
among colleagues.

By creating opportunities for team bonding, the Group not only
boosts morale but also cultivates a positive work culture where
employees feel more connected and motivated. This holistic
approach to employee engagement ultimately contributes to
a more productive and satisfied workforce, benefiting both the
employees and the organisation.
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Health and Safety

Our continued success depends on the well-being of our
people. To create a safe and healthy work environment, we have
implemented a comprehensive occupational health and safety
management system that safeguards our employees and workers.

The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities with zero
fatality rates for three consecutive years. During the Reporting
Period, there were no lost days due to work injury. The Group
was also not aware of any material non-compliance with
employment-related laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations
include but are not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases Law of the
PRC, Requirements and Evaluation Criteria for the Standardised
Production of Hazardous Chemicals in Shanxi Province, Xiaoyi
People’s Government Safe Production Committee’s Guideline on
the Further Strengthening of Occupational Diseases Prevention
Work.
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FAIBFEM IR B T B84t o
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Health & Safety Indicators Unit 2025 2024 2023
REER2IERE B (i —E_RE —ENE =R
Work-related fatalities THEIETAH Numbers A 0 0 0
Fatality rate TR % 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury ATHEBELNBEH Days H (] 0 0
Work-related injury T1EZHA Cases 2 0 0 0
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards providing a safe and accident-free working
environment for employees as of paramount importance.
Therefore, both external and internal guidelines and regulations
are followed by the Group. External guidelines and regulations
cover national, provincial, and local level instructions. Internal
policies outlined by the Group cover areas including:

o Restriction and control on air composition;

° Mandatory and regular health checks for certain types of
staff (such as those who are likely to get occupational health
diseases);

o Education and training on safety precautions and
importance of adhering to the policies;

o Provision of personal protection equipment;

° Regular fire or hazardous drills, and feedback and reflection
on such drills, to constantly prepare for and improve
reactions to emergencies; and

° Restriction on over-time work and operating machines that
produce radiance, noise, pungent odour, etc. for women
who are pregnant, breastfeeding, or on mensuration, etc.

Apart from measures preventing employees from getting
injured in work-induced accidents, various measures are also
taken to control and minimise the chances of employees being
endangered by non-work-related hazards. For example, as the
Group provides accommodation, showering, and laundry facilities
for employees, devices and equipment, such as showerheads and
a heating system, within these facilities are regularly upgraded to
ensure they are safe to use.
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Development and Training

We aim to build a dynamic environment where our colleagues
can develop skills and undertake experiences that help them fulfil
their potential. Our human capital management strategy places
priority on equipping our people with continuing education and
personal development opportunities. To meet the diverse needs of
all employees, the Group has enhanced its internal training system
by offering not just induction training but also targeted sessions on
essential topics. Employees get a 2-day training course when they
get into their positions, followed by regular trainings conducted by
training companies, usually monthly. A wide range of topics such
as internal occupation health and safety trainings were provided to
employees.

The Group formulates the following year’s training plan at the end
of each year according to its business needs. The Group will also
make appropriate adjustments to the training courses according
to the training needs and targets.

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an overall
training percentage of 120% (2024: 93.33%) with an average
training hour of approximately 13.13 hours (2024: 11.80 hours)
per employee trained. The percentage of total employees who
took part in training in the Group is as follows:

Percentage of Employees

2 R BRI

BN ERmENIRE 58
FIEFIRES 3 R AE ML AR RAER > i
MBERESEN - HANANELE
ERBEERENAETIRHEEEHS
RENEREE - RmEERESN
ZREBEX ~EEERICEAIE
47 NMERMBAREI TR H
FRIBENHEMRE -BEREAR
B MEGEZBHAMRBE 2
BHFINABETEMEI BEE
BR—R-AEEDEERMA TR
FRENZE2EIESREIE
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B

RIREHE > AEBBISERIEIG
AE120% (ZZ P4 : 93.33%) >
E2T)ETNFELEIREOA
1313/ NBRF (CZE U4 1 11.80/\FF) ©
AEBMBMBIN2EET TN
T

Received Training® 2025 2024
ZIETHAE S - —ZTNE
Overall 120.00% 93.33%
B2
By Gender
b gkl
Male 100.00% 90.00%
Lk
Female 175.00% 100.00%
peglid
By Employment Category
R % 555!
Senior Management Staff 100.00% 100.00%
SHEEEET
Middle Management Staff 133.33% 83.33%
PREEEET
General Staff 200.00% 100.00%
—MRBT
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The breakdown of total employees by gender and employment BRI R EEEERE D8 T 4R80T
categories is as follows: AN

Breakdown of

Employee Training® 2025 2024
8 T 1&3)IBA4me ZEZhHE TEIE
By Gender
R
Male 61.11% 64.29%
B4
Female 38.89% 35.71%
2z
By Employment Category
¥R {EEE R
Senior Management Staff 44.44% 50.00%
EREEEET
Middle Management Staff 44.44% 42.86%
hREREEET
General Staff 11.11% 7.14%
—MRBT
The average number of training hours completed per employee by BN RERENESNERETE
gender and employment category are as follows: SER IS EI RS T

Average Number of

Training Hours (hours)’ 2025 2024
T E N B (V) 7 - “ZTE
Overall 13.13 11.80
27
By Gender
R
Male 14.27 15.60
B4
Female 10.00 4.20
%
By Employment Category
HEELER
Senior Management Staff 19.63 18.36
SHREBEET
Middle Management Staff 5.67 4.32
RS EEET
General Staff 6.00 4.20
—RETL
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Note:

5. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees trained =
number of employees trained/total number of employees on 31
March 2025 * 100%. Formula for calculating the percentage of
employees in the relevant categories = Employees in the specified
category who took part in training/total number of employees in the
specified category * 100%.

6. Formula for calculating the breakdown of employees trained =
number of employees trained under x category/total number
of employees trained on 31 March 2025 * 100%. Formula for
calculating the breakdown of employees in relevant categories =
Employees in the specified category, who took part in training/
Employees who took part in training * 100%.

7. Formula for calculating average training hours per employee =
Total number of training hours/Total number of employees. Formula
for calculating average training hours of employees in relevant
categories = Total number of training hours for employees in the
specified category/Number of employees in the specified category.

The data has been restated due to an updated calculation model.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group maintains a strong commitment to prohibit the
use of child or forced labour in the workplace. The Group has
established comprehensive policies that explicitly prohibit forced
labor and outline the consequences for violations, the Human
Resources Department checks their identity documents during the
hiring process. By conducting these identity checks, the Group
takes proactive measures to verify the eligibility of candidates and
uphold its commitment to ethical employment practices.

Employees are instructed to report any violations directly to the
Human Resources Department and senior management for
immediate verification, once any violation is found, the Group
will immediately investigate, terminate the labour contract and
discipline the employees involved. If necessary, the Group will
further improve the labour mechanism for violations.

Furthermore, the Employment Agreements and job descriptions
clearly outline the working hours, location, assigned tasks,
and primary responsibilities to ensure that employees are not
compelled to perform tasks that fall outside the scope of their
roles. If employees are required to work beyond their regular
working hours, any overtime work is voluntary and compensated
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group also prohibits any form of punishment or behaviour
that involves verbal abuse, physical punishment, physical abuse,
oppression, or sexual harassment (including inappropriate
language, gestures, or physical contact) against employees for
any reason. If any employee is found to have violated these rules,
the Group will immediately terminate their probation period or
Employment Agreement, as outlined in the Employee Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but are not limited to
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the
PRC, and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour
of the PRC.

Supply Chain Management

Supplier Management

We have a comprehensive supply chain management system in
place to ensure our suppliers meet our stringent requirements
in respect of regulatory compliance, integrity, and sustainability.
To provide better guidance to our suppliers, we established a
supplier code of conduct. This policy sets out the management
of environmental and social practices for our suppliers. All our
suppliers and business partners, including subcontractors, are
expected to comply with relevant environmental and social laws
and regulations, as well as to act according to our environmental
and social policies.

We evaluate and select our suppliers based on our needs and
requirements, and consider suppliers on factors like quality,
pricing, reliability, and overall value. Supplier audits and site
visits are arranged as needed to ensure suppliers meet all the
Group’s requirements. We specifically ensure that our suppliers
are environmentally and socially responsible by performing annual
audits of their compliance with our environmental and social
requirements. During the Reporting Period, we worked with 2
major suppliers from the PRC.

REBETRIEUEIERREEET
EEEANEITI S REE B
SRER BENMRENTTS (B
TREERS TRUIRERE -5
RERNBEERZERE  ~EEF
TERIEES BESRERE R
BT FMe

PR &5 HARE > 7 8 B 3 1 R 8 A ) R
EERABETIRAEFSIHERK
EHRMBAEREREATENIE
MeBRERRERBEEBARRE
B(RBIEAD)  (FEARKEMES
E)RPBEC(RIEEREIRE)

HEERER

HEHEE
FMERUTENHEEEERR
M RHEERT S RFAEEREERE
MELERTFELERDENERE
KemmtEmiZHERENES
RMERIEHEETAER - ZER
Y HHEBRREMEERNERE
EXRFEHEEREZBHE (B0
B) HAEETHMIRR AL &5 E
ER WEERMNRIEELEER
7%

FHPIRE B 5 TR RE G K EEE
HER THREEZEHBHNMRE
ER - EEEBREEEFER -
MPERFEELHHEREZNENE
2 LIRRENSREEMAEZR
RPLHERHERNRREHETES
T BFELAERT RN G HEMREA
HERE-RREHB AHATEHR
MERKEPENHEFSIE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25% %8

87



38

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiE - B REBERS

Green Procurement

The Group has the Procurement Policy and Standardised
Purchasing Procedure in place which requires suppliers of the
Group to provide proofs of basic qualifications they have acquired
relating to the environmental aspects, such as sewage discharge
permission. The suppliers’ effort and means of reducing their
environmental impacts are also investigated when the Group
screens and chooses suppliers, for example, the Group prioritises
suppliers who take steps to reduce dust and pollution into the
air during transportation by covering materials on trucks. The
information is then audited, followed by a site visit conducted by
the Group to respective factories with suppliers to confirm that the
practices are well taken place.

On top of the above policies, the Group specifies detailed clauses
within contracts to ensure business partners have implemented
adequate management policies regarding their social and
environmental impacts. For example, within the Environmental and
Energy Property Management Contract, the Group requests that
both parties comply with the safety and environmental protection
requirements:

° The service provider shall set up a management committee
to ensure safety production;

o The service provider shall submit to the Group’s supervision
whenever the Group observes a potential risk;

° The service provider shall arrange its personnel to receive
the necessary training offered by the Group; and

o The Group will send designated personnel to conduct on-
site surveys to monitor the service providers’ performance.

Product Responsibility

Responsible business practices are critical to a healthy business.
The Group believes quality products and customer service are
essential for sustainable development. To this end, the Group has
formulated a series of relevant policies and guidelines to improve
the quality of its products and services continuously. Due to
the nature of the Group’s businesses, the Group does not have
specific product recall procedures in place.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

ARBIRIE

FEBRBERBHERRELCHET
e HERAEENHERMREM
REMBESNEREFERMBNE
REHEE W5 KBEMET A o A&
B e EMREERTATE SRR
B EMRMEVE N RiE > A
FEREBLERBBEFE LBEEN
kR E S B IR PR BB S Y
MEF REBERMABERNETEZ
EEmNAEERYHEES N TRE
TREBZER  LBEIBEERITREN
IREAREE °

BRT LIRS A EBIREG RS
MET 57 MIARTR » LUREfRE 75 %8 5
HitgMRIEZET M ENEER
Repll ERIEMERMEEES
Ff AEBEREHZETLEMIER
IBRERTE

s RBHEAERIEERZSS:
UERE2EE;

s EAXEBEZRBETRARE RS
HEBRREEAEENEE ;

s RHBEHEHELHHEHETER
AEEREHRILESI &

s AEBRRGRHIBEEABEN
RIGRE UERRBHESD
KFo

EmEE
BEENEBTARRREBNVE
Re-rEBRDBEERRE RS
HAKBERERAEZ -RIL K&
EEHE—RIBMBRAIES MU
FERAHERMRFER -ERNA
EENEBEE  AEBLERILY
ENEmMBRIRERF-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiE - B REBERS

During the Reporting Period, there were no products that were
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons, and the Group
was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with related
laws and regulations concerning health and safety, advertising,
labelling, and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the
PRC, and the Advertising Law of the PRC.

Quality Services

While there was no business operation related to coking, heating,
or production during the Reporting Period, the Group continues to
guide the general quality assurance and quality control processes.
No non-compliant outgoing products were reported during the
Reporting Period as strict measures were taken to keep up with
the quality of products during the entire process of production.

Amongst all, to ensure quality of the production from the
beginning, all incoming supplies would be examined before
entering the plant. The laboratory closely monitors parameters
of key supplies of the operations in terms of their quality, such
as water content, ash content, sulphur content, volatile matter
content of the raw coal. Sampling methods strictly follow national
standards such as GB482-1995, GB481-93, and GB475-1996.
Other national standards would also be followed during quality
assurance and quality control processes, including but not limited
to:

° GB/T 4000-2008 Coke — Determination of reactivity and
strength after reaction;

° GB/T 5447 — 2014 Determination of caking index of
bituminous coal;
o GB/T 214 — 2007 Determination of sulphur in coal;

° GB/T 212 — 2008 Proximate analysis of coal; and

° GB474 — 2008 Preparation of coal sample.
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Customer Service

Customer experience is at the heart of our operations. We
constantly engage with our customers to identify and understand
their needs, thereby improving customer experience. We measure
customer satisfaction through surveys of each of our businesses,
listen carefully to customer feedback so we know where we
can take proactive measures and improve. When faced with
complaints, we react with innovative solutions to resolve conflicts
promptly and fairly.

To improve on how we serve our customers, we must be
open to feedback and acknowledge our occasional flaws. We
have adapted quickly to support our customers in facing new
challenges and adopting new ways of working. We aim to be
open and consistent in how we track, record and manage
complaints. As the diagram below demonstrates, we have a
consistent set of procedures that enable us to remain customer-
focused throughout the complaint process. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not receive any material product and
service-related complaints.

Establish Keep the Ensure
complaint Acknowlgdge complainant a fair
channels Corg?li"jts informed resolution
yupEEy R R
KRR NER

Advertising and Labelling

We are committed to providing transparent and accurate
information to assist customers in making informed purchasing
decisions. We strictly adhere to all relevant regulations and
industry guidelines. To promote responsible marketing practices,
we have implemented a strict internal review system for our
promotional materials and labelling. We use marketing and
promotional materials that support customer understanding and
provide information on products and services that are clear, fair
and not misleading. We are proud to report that there were no
significant cases of non-compliance during the Reporting Period
with respect to our products and services.
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Privacy Protection

The Group understands the importance of protecting the privacy
and confidentiality of our stakeholders. To prevent data leaks and
misuse of sensitive customer information, we have implemented
various measures. During the Reporting Period, we found no
significant violations of privacy laws that affect the Group.

To protect against data leaks from virus attacks, we use several
antivirus practices. For instance, we regularly update our security
systems and installed the latest version of the Huawei firewall
in 2019. The Group also monitors market alerts and conducts
assessments and audits with external partners to identify bugs,
suspicious activities, or weaknesses in our security systems.
Additionally, some computers have restrictions on the applications
and software they can download.

Data is backed up every six hours to prevent loss in case of a
hacking incident. To reduce the risk of employee misconduct
that could lead to sensitive information being leaked or misused,
access to such data is limited to a small number of staff
members.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Because of the nature of the Group’s business, there is currently
no policy for protecting intellectual property rights. However, as
our business develops, we may create policies, controls, and
guidelines to manage risks related to intellectual property. This
will help us identify, maintain, and protect our intellectual property
and ensure we do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of
others while conducting business. These policies and controls will
help us consistently manage intellectual property risks in line with
our overall risk tolerance.

Anti-corruption

The Group requires all employees to comply with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Law Against Unfair
Competition in China, the Criminal Law in China, and other laws
related to commercial bribery. The Group also has anti-corruption
agreements with all the suppliers they work with.
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The Legal Department monitors compliance to ensure a zero-
tolerance policy for corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money
laundering, and other illegal activities. Whistle-blowers can
contact the Legal Department directly or use a private reporting
mailbox to raise concerns while keeping their identity anonymous.
Additionally, the Group has measures in place to protect whistle-
blowers from retaliation or negative consequences at work.

The Group recognises that anti-corruption training is pivotal
to raising employees’ awareness and maintaining a culture
of integrity throughout the Group. The Group’s directors and
employees are regularly provided with the latest anti-corruption
materials, which highlight the importance of embedding integrity
in the workplace, provide guidance on adhering to business
ethics, and provide industry-specific examples to facilitate the
understanding of anti-corruption by employees.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal
cases regarding any forms of fraud raised by the Group or its
employees. The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the Criminal Law of
the PRC, and the Company Law of the PRC and the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the PRC.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

Our whistle-blowing channel allows our colleagues and other
stakeholders to raise concerns confidentially and, anonymously
if preferred, subject to laws and regulations. We offer a range of
speak-up channels providing colleagues and stakeholders the
confidence to speak up when they observe unlawful or unethical
behaviour. Their concerns are delivered through the most effective
route. We always listen to the concerns of individuals and have a
zero tolerance for acts of retaliation.

Concerns are investigated proportionately and independently,
with actions taken where appropriate. These can include
disciplinary actions, dismissals, and adjustments to variable pay
and performance ratings. We ensure that whistle-blowers are
protected from unfair dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted
disciplinary action. There were no concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.
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We am to act with courageous integrity and learn from past
events. We owe this not just to our customers and to society at
large, but to our colleagues to ensure they can be rightly proud
of the organisation they work in . We aim to make decisions
based on doing the right thing for our customers and never
compromising our ethical standards or integrity.

Community Investment

The Group considers it a privilege to have the ability to give
back to the community. Community involvement reaffirms the
Group’s commitment to engaging with stakeholders to make
lasting impacts. Through community involvement, the Group can
also foster its corporate culture, promote networking and offer
employees a platform to positively impact the community.

We imagine a future where our efforts support health, education,
and well-being. By encouraging employees to participate in
volunteer projects and working with local organisations, we aim
to tackle social issues and promote sustainable development.
Our goal is to inspire others to join us in this mission, building
a stronger and more resilient community for everyone. Through
these ongoing efforts, we hope to create a lasting impact and
empower future generations.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE ZEEMASXSFAERAREBE -HERE

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED ARERSIRBES]
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Chapter/Statement

BHIEER =5 BH

Governance Structure Board Statement and ESG Governance Structure
JBIEZRE EEFERAMRE - HERERREER
Reporting Principles Reporting Framework

bE R = Al HWEEZR

Reporting Boundary Reporting Scope

bE ¥ 30 & wEHE

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TESEEH®E - —A%K | Description Section/Declaration
ERRAREMIEE it =1t

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : B4

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
— RN E BRBERKRERBI AR THBE S -BERE | HER

EEEYNELERN .

(@  the policies; and
B ; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

BTHETABEARZENERERIIRHANE

Ko

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Emissions

R AR B IRAT A BEU S8 S AR R HE I B © BEB — K@ HER

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse | Emissions — Greenhouse

RAH2 & IEIEAL.2 gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. | Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
B #EE1) RERERE (BE2) RERBIM CUEs | I —AERE (DRE
B Kk WBER) BE- A1) B

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity. Emissions — Waste

R ERIEIRA1.3 FREX B EREEYEE CUESTE) REBE- Management

B — B EE
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

PREEEZERYEE QIR E) REE -

FEHEE@  —ME | Description Section/Declaration
BRAREMISE it =Bt
KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and | Emissions — Waste

AR ERIEIRA1 .4 intensity. Management

HEm) — R B IR

KPI A1.5
RN 1RA1.5

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
BALFTE] L AVHEN 2 B IR R A ERIE LB RTINS

Bo

Environmental Targets;
Use of Resources-Energy
Management

REER; BRERA—
AEREIE

KPI A1.6
RSB AR XIS 1RA1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

BEIEEERBEEEEYN A E BB AERW
R

Emissions — Waste
Management

B — B EE

Aspect A2: Use of Resou
BHEA2: BRER

rces

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,

Use of Resources

B SR A AR 1RA2.1

and intensity.
RENE SN B, REEEREEEREE -

—RIKE water and other raw materials. ZHREA
BRERER (BIEER  KREMEME) BB -
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total | Use of Resources —

Energy Management
BEREA-EREE

BB IEIRA2.3

achieved.
A BE TR E B R B FE S EE A4S R o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources — Water

R AE IS IZA2.2 MEEKERZE - Management
BERHEHA-—KEE

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results | Use of Resources —

Energy Management

EREA-ERERE

S mPTABEEMERAE (UEEE) REEEBL

=
=-°

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | Use of Resources — Water
RARBEMIEIRA2.4 that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results | Management
achieved. BIRER—KEIE
it SR BB R ACOR Rl AR AR MR IR F A K =
B S A R o
KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in | Use of Resources — Use
REREWIEIRA2.5 tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced. of Packaging Materials

ERER-BEMREE

A
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls
TEHR -BEE@m-—KIK
B R EARERIER

Description
it

Section/Declaration

EE Rt

BEAS : IRIERRAE R

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the

The Environment and

manage them.
B EBEBHHIRERRABERNE
BEERMTENTE-

TERERNE

— R E environment and natural resources. Natural Resources
EETABIRERRARE REME X ENEGR RIERKAER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | The Environment and

BA# & RIS 1ZA3A environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | Natural Resources

RIERRAER

[EEA4 : RIZEE

Aspect A4 :Climate Change

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate

Climate Change

and the actions taken to manage them.
BT ERRAIEEHETAEELENEAREERE
H RELTE

—RIFE related issues which have impacted, and those which may | & f&&1k

impact, the issuer.

HAREHER A EEHETAEERLENEARE

HEEAEERIEEK -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which | Climate Change —
RRENIEIRA4 have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, | Identification of Climate

Risks and Opportunities
RIEEE—HRIER
e e 1588
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEEHE—f%K | Description Section/Declaration
B R AREMIER it S8 Bt
Aspect B1: Employment
[EEB1 : (B1E
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
—RiEE BRI RERE -BERSA TENE BB - TE% | BE
2 Znlb s RERUREMEFEREFR
(@  the policies; and
BE; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BTHETABEARZENEEIERRAINE
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group | Employment —

R AERIEIEB 1

and geographical region.

RIER - ERER  FRAERN MBI DHESREH -

Recruitment, Promotion
and Dismissal

BE-EE S KRER

KPI B1.2
RESER M5 1RB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
MR FE AR Rt @ B D EE AR EE o

Employment-
Recruitment, Promotion
and Dismissal
BIE—1BE-BAKER
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

HIPA R B R RREAZ 2 AR AT RE
BHke

TEHEE@m - —f%K | Description Section/Declaration
B R AR EMIEE it =8 BRat
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2: BEHALZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
—RIEE EREHZ2TIFRERMREREREHXE/EN . | BEHEZS
(@  the policies; and
BR ; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

EBTHETABEAZENHEMEZERRINE

Ao
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
RERRAA M IE1EB2.1 RTTHBIA B EEZ o REEZ S
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
RARABANIEEB2.2 RITEELRTIEH S REHEZ S
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety —
RE A WIE1EB2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. Occupational Health and

Safety
L — 2R
Ze

Aspect B3: Development
[EmEB3 : R RIZ

and Training

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

Development and Training

A 2 4E 2 F5 1RB3. 1

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BENKREERER WehEERE -PREER) 29N
RiMEEE Db

— AR EE discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. | 3% ELiE3|
BRRARERETT TIFR BN # K i BE RS o fiit
HlESh

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and | Development and Training

EEE=E

KPI B3.2
RSB 51RB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BRI REEERE D  BREETMZ B TR -

Development and Training

2 e Bl
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

[ETEB4 : 8 T#R|

TEHEEHE—f%K | Description Section/Declaration
Z R EARENIER it =P T
Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure
—MRINEE

Information on:

BREABIEE T RIS T
(@  the policies; and
BE; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
ETHETAREATZENHEAEERRINE
Ao

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
TR —TEHET K
&5 T

RS2 AEIE1RB4.2

discovered.

HWAERRER B REERA RIS NPT R D 5 o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards —
R EWIEIEBAA avoid child and forced labour. Prevention of Child and
A i ST BB A S i LB o EE T Kool T o Forced Labour
TR —TEfE LK
SR HIEE T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labour Standards —

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BTAER—TEHET K
RHIE T
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

and how they are implemented and monitored.
Bt EREREERIEE S BIRRERKRFBRVES
U BRI T REER A%

TEHEE@m - —f%K | Description Section/Declaration

B R AR EMIEE it 6 Rt

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmEBS5 : R EIE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Supply Chain

—MRINE supply chain. Management
BIRMEEAIRIE L & RREEE - HEEHEEIE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

RE SRR IE1RB5 1 i@ 8 R REEBE o Management

HEEHEEIE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, | Supply Chain

e #AE WIE1EB5.2 number of suppliers where the practices are being | Management —
implemented, and how they are implemented and | Supplier Management
monitored. HrERESIE—HERE
HAEMERAEEENEN mERTERAEMNGHE |12
EH A URAERARIT REE A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental | Supply Chain

R AEWIE1EB5.3 and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | Management —
implemented and monitored. Green Procurement
HMARENHERSERANIRERTTRABNE | HERESE - HBRE
B> U ABRAHIT R BEZR 7 K ©

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Supply Chain

REREWIEIEB5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, | Management —

Green Procurement

HEREIE R ERE
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls
FEHEBE-BE@m-—MRKE
Z R EARENIER

Description
it

Section/Declaration

EE Rt

[EBmB6 : ERMEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure

Information on:

Product Responsibility

R RIS 5 1RB6.1

recalls for safety and health reasons.
BENCEXERAHRRZ BERIEHAMEAERIN
Batbe

—RiEE BRFMREELMRBNERERZ S - ES - REEWLE | ERET
EEURBR A ER
(@  the policies; and
BE; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
ETHETAREAZENEAEERRINE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to | Product Responsibility

EmEE

HIUHBE BN RERLBER  URERATRER
735

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints | Product Responsibility —
R ENIE1RB6.2 received and how they are dealt with. Customer Service
BERNERMRBOEFHEURER S £ ERET-EPR%
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Product Responsibility —
R ENIE1EB6.3 intellectual property rights. Protection of Intellectual
ot B 4 B I R PR A0 o8 EE RE B RERVIB A 0 Property Rights
EmET—RENHE
1
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Product Responsibility —
RERENIEIEB6.4 procedures. Quality Service
HIESRTEBREMEREIWER - Emat—EBER®
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy | Product Responsibility —
BB NIE1EB6.5 policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. Privacy Protection

EmBE-MRFRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - B REBRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls
TEHR -BEE@m-—KIK
B R EARERIER

Description
it

Section/Declaration

EE Bt

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

[BEB7 : R&ES

General Disclosure
—MRINE

Information on:

BRIPAIEIRRE ~ 81 IFF RO R3¢

(@ the policies; and
BR ; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
ETHETAREAXZENHEAEERRINE
K)o

Anti-corruption
R&5

KPI B7.1
Re S A S0 15 1RBT7 1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERMAANHETANEEERE T EFENETHNL
EHHHE REFRER -

Anti-corruption
R&5

KPI B7.2
R AE 5 1RBT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B S B BRI UARABRARIT RE R 5 % -

Anti-corruption — Whistle-
blowing Mechanism

R &5 —LmES

KPI B7.3
BB AEWIEIEBT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

BHmEERE TIRENRESEI -

Anti-corruption
rR&5
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - HBREBHRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

R SR AE W E1RB8 1

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIERBE WHBE - BREEE - FIHFRBR X
1E~B8H) o

TEHEEHE—f%K | Description Section/Declaration
B R AREMIER it =Bt
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[BEBS : HtERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the | Community Investment
—MRINEE needs of the communities where the issuer operates | 1t @&
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BRUtR2RERTREEMTHEREMBRAER
HEEEREENREE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community Investment

G

KPI B8.2
Ri B 48 30 15 12B8 .2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

FHEEIBBABAER WERNER) -

Community Investment
HEXRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER IR

;L

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Huscoke Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 180,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2025, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2025, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$29,484,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025
and had net current liabilities of approximately HK$444,496,000 as
at 31 March 2025. Statutory demands from the major creditor for the
outstanding borrowing and interest were received on 11 December
2023 and 17 June 2024. Also, the Company has received a winding-
up petition filed against the Company by the major creditor. Further,
no revenue was generated from the new operating assets up to date,
which bring significant impacts on the Group’s operations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER IR

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the Group’s ability
to make the new operating assets in full operation on schedule, the
success in collecting debts from a debtor, the success in delaying the
payments by persuading its creditors of the Group not to insist on
demanding repayment before the full operation of the Group’s new
operating assets and the success in dismissing the winding-up petition.
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that would result from the failure to make the new operating assets in
full operation on schedule, to collect the debts, to delay the repayments
and to dismiss the winding-up petition.

Given the execution of the plans and measures by the Group are in
progress, there is no feasible operation schedule for the new operating
assets of the Group, written contractual agreements with its creditors
to delay payment, concrete audit evidence that winding-up petition will
be dismissed, or other relevant documentary supporting evidence are
available to the Group as at the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for extending the going concern
assessment. Further, as described in the Other Matters section of our
report, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of the debts from a debtor.
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we considered necessary to assess the likelihood of success
of the plans and measures currently undertaken by the Group as
described above.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
adopt to satisfy ourselves that the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and adequacy
of the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters above, we disclaim
our opinion as to whether the use of the going concern assumption in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

REVBBRRDERECEERERR Z&
HERRBERBURY BEBEESENKEE
EERPEERAZE ETHIRAGEHA
WEEE . SEEESEABHRAREA
AEFEXR BEEEEHNEEEERZR
BRAEERERMA R URES
PRI BE 25 AR e M BRI ESRE
ERECEMECEEERPLEEBRAZE I
EEH HEERREEEE2F MR
B ERRE-

£ BEREENTZES B RERHR
R BEEREERGEMBRREMLEZR
ERTENEEEENITEEEE A
BEASTINEEBAREEENHR B
BEFR T RHBENEREZRENEME
RS SRR DUE RIFEKE TG Ut
S N E ERIRE THthF 1| —ERFT A
EEE NG RABENELRE  LIEE
FEMEIAEBAREES FHIt EFFE
ZREESRAUENENEBENEZ
BE 0 USHE SEEBRIBEMR EAstE
K FE I R T BY BT BENE ©

g =

\

EEELRAEMS NEMBELIER U
BE BRAEFEAFEEEESEE
WEEMENUKR BHRBEGEMHREITE
FRBENTRE BN LMEENEEN
BEEBEEIMRRGE S B RREPIANS

BEERRESEEERER-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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OTHER MATTERS

Had we not disclaimed our opinion in respect of the matters described
in the Basis of Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we would otherwise
have qualified our opinion in respect of the scope limitations on our audit
relating to the matters detailed below.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position were
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$137,588,000 and HK$119,709,000 as at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024, respectively.

The management has taken legal action against the debtor on
settlement of the aforesaid balances. In absence of the fulfillment on
the agreed repayment schedules under the mediation of local court and
the debtor is unable to provide supportive information to the Group for
recoverability of the aforesaid balances, the management considered
that there is uncertainty on recovering the aforesaid balances. The
management has applied execution against the debtor on the balances
through Intermediate People’s Court and High People’s Court in
Shanxi Province, the legal procedure is still in process, hence no result
from actions is available up to the date of this report for justifying the
extent of the recoverability of the aforesaid balances. Accordingly, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves as to the recoverability of aforesaid balances as at 31 March
2025 and 31 March 2024.

In relation to the aforesaid balances, other income and gains from this
debtor for compensation receivable of approximately HK$19,554,000
and HK$22,416,000 were recognised for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 31 March 2024, respectively. Such compensation income
was calculated and recognized based on the aforesaid outstanding
balances by the agreements between the Group and the debtor. In view
of the above situation on the recoverability for such debtor, we were
also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves whether there are correspondingly increase in economic
benefit from these recorded compensation income.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt
to determine whether the aforesaid other income and gains for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, respectively, were properly
recognised and the aforesaid balances as at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024 were fairly stated.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

EEEERBEMSAGANEZZERREK
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BWAAL BT RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P0O3614

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmkEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E _ZE _HF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
BE_ZT"HF BHE_ZIINF
=B=+—H —A=+—H
LEEFE EFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kat FET FET
REVENUE KA 7 34,230 2,403
Cost of sales THE A (34,185) (2,400)
Gross profit ER 45 3
Compensation income HEWA 7 19,554 22 416
Other income and gains, net HMWA R wm > 2 28 7 1 274
Administrative expenses 1TERSZ (17,943) (27,327)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 8 (31,144) (31,105)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PR RIRS 1R 9 (29,487) (35,739)
Income tax expense PRISHRFSZ 12 - -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBE (29,487) (35,739)
Other comprehensive expenses Hth2mMAx
Items that may be reclassified HEoEEHoLE
subsequently to profit or loss Eiam2ZIEE
Exchange differences on translation of BN EFITEEE >
foreign operations bE 2 =58 (14,386) (68,880)
Other comprehensive expenses for the  EEHEMEERS
year, net of tax Rk (14,386) (68,880)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES fF[E 2 44%8
FOR THE YEAR (43,873) (104,619)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmkEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E _Z _HF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
HE_S-_HE HE_ZT_N&E
=B=+—H =R=+—H
EFE IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR UTFATEGEEERE .
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSTEZFE DN (29,484) (35,732)
Non-controlling interests FEER T () (7)
(29,487) (35,739)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES U TFTALTRGEERE
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO Rz 48%E
Owners of the Company KNBVEB A (41,949) (95,454)
Non-controlling interests JERER R (1,924) (9,165)
(43,873) (104,619)
LOSS PER SHARE EiREE
Basic HA 13 (HK$0.10#7T)  (HK$0.12%7T)
Diluted e 13 (HK$0.107 7T) (HK$0.12777)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRRR

At31 March 2025 R-ZE " hA&E=A=+—H

31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—EZRE B O4E
=BA=+—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizE FHET FET
Non-Current Assets EREMEE
Property, plant and equipments ME-HERKRRE 15 1,666,634 1,687,336
Financial assets at fair value through BRARNEFTAEBTRZ
profit or loss SRIEE 16 1,508 1,508
Total non-current assets ERENE ELEEE 1,668,142 1,688,844
Current Assets RENEE
Trade receivables B 5 AR 17 54 1,719
Prepayments, deposits and other FANREEE R
receivables HMEWERTR 18 141,028 134,174
Cash and bank balances BERIRTEE 20 1,675 2,448
Total current assets MENE EAEER 142,757 138,341
Current Liabilities B U=k
Trade payables B 5 EMIRR 21 - 1,715
Other payables, accruals and HnE R BT E R
deposit received K E Wiz % 22 152,513 109,017
Other borrowings HhEE 23 218,188 218,188
Lease liabilities HEaRE 24 1,370 1,402
Tax payable FESTIRIA 215,182 145,110
Total current liabilities mENEEAERE 587,253 475,432
Net current liabilities mENEEFEE (444,496) (337,091)
Total assets less current liabilities BEMARRRSEE 1,223,646 1,351,753
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRRR

At31 March 2025 R-Z " hA&E=F=+—H

31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—ERE “ETOE
=A=+—-B =A=+-H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizE FHET FET
Non-Current Liabilities ERSEE
Other payables HhEJ R 22 39,002 47,656
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 = 1,370
Tax payable FEETRIE 143,454 217,664
Total non-current liabilities ERENEELEEE 182,456 266,690
Net assets BEEFHE 1,041,190 1,085,063
Equity i
Equity attributable to owners of the KRB ANELER
Company
Share capital [N 25 29,037 29,037
Reserves B 26 845,627 887,576
Total equity attributable to owners RABVHER ANEIL R AEEE
of the Company 874,664 916,613
Non-controlling interests TR 27 166,526 168,450
Total equity R 4EEE 1,041,190 1,085,063

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 180 were 109EEF180EH 2 GaMHFRECDNZ
approved and were authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson 30 ZE_HENB=+HKEETH ERERE

June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: B WA NIEEMRRE
Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick
ey 1: by it =AOBRE
Director Director
EBE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEmEsR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

Attributable to owners of the Gompany

FRARE AR
Equity
attributable
Exchange Capital to owners Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Special Other fluctuation redemption ~ Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital  premium*  surplus®  reserve*  reserve*  reserve®  reserve’ losses* Company interest equity
LY
KRR  EFRE BEA
fx  ROEE  SARE  RHEE  HtEE ikt e RehEE RGES FRREG  EGUE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr  TEn  TEn Fhr Thn Thn Thn Thn  Thx Thn ThEn
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=ENE-H 28,107 346564 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (20,050) 8 (1093280 1,011,367 177615 1188982
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - - (35782) (3573 m 35739
Other comprehensive expenses FEAMZERY
for the year:
Exchange differences on ENERNEEEL
translation of foreign operafions EREE - - - - - (972 - - 972 0158 (68880)
Total comprehensive expenses FEERERTLE
forthe year - - - - - R - @573 5454 0165 (104619
Issuance of new shares (Note 29) BRI (Wizts) 330 370 - - - - - - 700 - 700
At 31 March 2024 RZBE-ME=A=+-A 29,037 346924 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (19,772) 8 (1129012 916,613 168,450 1,085,063
A1 Api 2024 RoE-mEmR-A NOT UGOU 173G 182% B8 (9772 & (112012 916613 168450 1,085,063
Loss for the year TEEES - - - - - - = (29,484)  (29484) @ (29487
Other comprehensive expenses FEEHM2ERS
for the year:
Exchange differences on BIEBIEEEZ
translation of foreign operafions EREE - - - - - (12465 - - (12,465) (1921)  (14,386)
Total comprehensive expenses FEAENNLE
for the year - - - - - (12,465) - (20484) (41,949 (1,924) (43,873)
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRE=A=1-H 29,037 346924 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (92,287) 85 (1,158,496) 874,664 166,526 1,041,190
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the REFEROER CE_AF=F=+—

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025.

HZ RSB TR AR S5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n-ﬁ EE%/HLE%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

2025 2024
—EZRE =S )= 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
CASH FLOW FROM REXBHZRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRIRAIES1E (29,487) (35,739)
Adjustments for: BIETIIEE .
Finance costs 5 s 31,144 31,105
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWME KRB M ERE
and equipment - (270)
Compensation income from contract BERAHBEBIWRA
with customer (19,554) (22,416)
Interest income FEUA (1) M
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREITE
equipments 17 60
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESETE 1,480 2,893
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ M E UKL AERD
SZp - 700
Operating cash flows before working EEETEHAI KERERE
capital changes (16,401) (23,668)
Change in trade receivables B 5 EW R TUEE) 1,660 (1,734)
Change in prepayments, deposits and ~ FE{ 7B ~ #& 5 K H A FE UL BR R
other receivables b)) 12,700 17,307
Change in trade payables B IR EE (1,710) 1,730
Change in other payables, accruals HhEMIERTR  ETER K
and deposits received BWiZEEE) 4,502 10,620
Net cash inflow from operating REEFZIAERAREE
activities 751 4,255

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n-R Eﬁﬁllllgﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z - hAF=F=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ZTZRE =S )= 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
CASH FLOW FROM REEBZHERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE -BERERE
equipment (5) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE BB R&E 2 WS
plant and equipment - 270
Interest received BIFHE 1 1
Net cash (outflow)/inflow KREEBZ2HE
investing activities (W) WA REE 4 271
CASH FLOW FROM MEXBZRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease payments HENR (1,518) (2,999)
Net cash used in financing activities BiE ¥ TR ZH&FE (1,518) (2,999)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERIAEEEY GRL) /18m
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS JREE (771) 1,527
Cash and cash equivalents at FHzRERIREEEY
beginning of year 2,448 601
Effect of exchange rate changes on EXEHHIRERIREFEY 2
cash and cash equivalents & 2) 320
Cash and cash equivalents at FERZRERREEEY
end of year 1,675 2,448
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF IR& RIS EEBWERON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances REMIRTTEE 1,675 2,448
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZAERINEZEEY
end of year 1,675 2,448
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Huscoke Holdings Limited was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. The registered office at the end of the
reporting period is located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and the principal office at the
end of the reporting year is located at Room 3604-05, 36/F,
Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2025, the directors of the Company (‘Directors”)
consider that the immediate and ultimate controlling party of
the Group to be Shun Wang Investments Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Mr. Zhao Xu Guang,
a director of the Company, respectively.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) were involved in the following activities: (i) coke
trading business; (i) coal-related ancillary business; and (jii) coke
production business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$’000"), unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

RAREK (4
BMHBAR 2R
AATEEMBATZHBNT :

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Issued
ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
BRTEER FATREG S
wig SEMRERIL R R AR /AR A Bott FEEH
Direct Indirect
B i
Rich Key Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 100 - Investment holding
EEGEXBRAT EBRYEE/E5 E REZR
Pride Eagle Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
HERERRAH EBRYEE/E5 E REZR
Huscoke International Group Limited ~ Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of coke
NEEREEERAT 58/ &8 10,0007 7T BEEEX
Herong Resources Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of coke
M & FRERAE 58/ &8 10,0007 7T BEEEX
Ocean Signal Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Assets holding
BHARAT 58/ &8 10,0007 7T BEERE
Wealth Guardian Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 100 - Investment holding
EHERERAT EBRYEE/E5 E REZR
Good Guardian Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
EEREERAT EBRYEE/E5 E REZR
Fruitful International Investments Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investments
Limited
EEERRERRAT 58/ &8 10,0007 7T e
Joint Bloom Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
ARGEFRAT EBRYEE/EE E REER
True Tycoon Limited Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Investment holding
HFERAT HEHE /&5 e REZR
Ample Lead Global Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 100 - Investment holding
HERKE R AT EBRYEE/EE e REZR
Tycoon Path Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$100 - 100 Investment holding
SRREBRAT EBRYEE/E5 100% 7T REZR
Huscoke Management Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
MNEEBERAT 58/ &E 1B REZR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

NEEH (#)
ERMBARZER (&)

Issued
ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
BRITEER rAREEER
L5 FERERIL R R AR /AR Bt TELE
Direct Indirect
H# %
Shanxi Huscoke International Energy ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Company Limited * (“Shanxi
Huscoke”)®
WFEMNERRERERAS FE/ FRElR NG SEER
LAz e 10,000,0007¢
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co., Ltd * The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 90 Coal-related ancillary
(‘Energy Jiarun”)’ business; coke
production and
coke trading
LT EEREEERERAR FE,/ RElRH NG eSiElealiEE S
(MHEREM)" 1,000,0007% EREERER
g5
Heroic Global Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
BRRHGCEERAT EBELEHE/TE ES REER
Bloom Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
B R ERRAT BB/ BE 18T REER
Notes: Bt -
* For identification purposes only * e

@ Shanxi Huscoke is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company
established in the PRC.

¢ Energy Jiarun is a limited liability company established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the reporting period, or at anytime during the reporting
period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year and formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”), Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (‘“HKAS”) and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use
of key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$29,484,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 and had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$444,496,000 as at
31 March 2025. Statutory demands from the major creditor for
certain alleged outstanding borrowing and interest were received
on 11 December 2023 and 17 June 2024. Also, the Company
has received a winding-up petition filed against the Company
by the major creditor. Further, no revenue was generated from
the new operating assets up to date, which bring significant
impacts on the Group’s operations. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group’s ability to make the new operating assets in full operation
on schedule, the success in collecting debts from a debtor, the
success in delaying the payments by persuading its creditors of
the Group not to insist on demanding repayment before the full
operation of the Group’s new operating assets and the success in
seeking the dismissal of the winding-up petition. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would
result from the failure to make the new operating assets in
full operation on schedule, to collect the debts, to delay the
repayments and to seek the dismissal of the winding-up petition.

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for
the foreseeable future, and accordingly, are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.
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PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(Continued)

For details of the winding-up petition, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 2 August 2024, 8 August
2024, 9 April 2025, 8 May 2025, 30 May 2025 and 9 June 2025.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 April 2024. HKFRS Accounting Standards,
comprise HKFRS, HKAS, and Interpretation. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards did not
result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior period/years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
HKFRS Accounting Standards but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRS Accounting Standards would have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share
of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated exchange
fluctuation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non- controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
period between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKS$, which is the Group’s
presentation currency and the functional currency of the
Company. The functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiaries of the Group is Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= H

e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over

the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Computer equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending for installation, and is stated
at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-to-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and buildings 2-10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs
except in the case of investments at fair value through profit or
loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and
- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

(i) Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates
an equity investment that is not held for trading as at
fair value through other comprehensive income on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss are net of any interest income and dividend income.
Interest income and dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
to which the impairment requirements apply in accordance
with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group measures a
loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial
asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

- past due information

- nature of instrument

- nature of collateral

- industry of debtors

- geographical location of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial instrument
that meets any of the following criteria.

- Information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

- there is a breach of f inancial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial assets has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired include observable data about the following
events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(i)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(i) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.

(iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(v} the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(v the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) SREHEK (&
Financial liabilities and equity instruments EHEaERESTAE

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
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for specific financial liabilites and equity instruments are set out MG SR ESII T o
below.
Borrowings B8

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contract liabilities are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at the higher of:

- the loss allowance; and

- the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation
recognised in profit or loss over the terms of the guarantee
contracts.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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132

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted
for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws
that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be
satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation
is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of medium coal, coke and by-products are recognised at
a point of time at which the customer obtains the control of the

promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Compensation income is recognised when the right to receive o 18 U A B ST USRS SR B RE A B B
payment has been established. o

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Share-based payments transactions

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based
vesting conditions.

Employee benefits

()  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(i)  Pension schemes
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss
represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

(iij) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the year, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4,
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy  is a member of the key management personnel of the

Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the entities comprising the Group are
members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) ~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
investments, inventories and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained earnings within the equity section
of the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) BAGHEE &
Dividends (Continued) KRR (&)

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
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R M BRER - LIFRAEEEZ
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period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to BRI E -
the consolidated financial statements when material.
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES RREFIET R EE Mt

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the factors described in note 2.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a

(b)

(c)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the
date the property, plant and equipment are ready for
their intended use. The estimated useful life reflects the
management’s estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of
the property, plant and equipment. The depreciation will be
changed when the useful life is expected to be different from
the estimate and would affect profit or loss for the period in
which such change of estimate takes place.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than expected
or there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for financial assets at amortised cost including trade
receivables, amount due from non-controlling shareholder
and deposits and other receivables, by using various inputs
and assumptions including risk of a default and expected
loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty
which is based on the Group’s historical information,
recoverable amount of collateral, past collection history
of debtors, concentration risk of debtors, the Group’s
actual loss experience, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of the financial assets at amortised cost. Details of the key
assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in
note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has the following
reportable operating segments:

@

the coke trading segment — purchases and sales of coke
and coal;

the coal-related ancillary segment — washing of raw coal into
refined coal for sale and for further processing, and sale of
electricity and heat which are generated as the by-products
during the washing of raw coal; and

the coke production segment — processing of refined coal
into coke for sales, and sale of coke by-products that are
generated during coke production.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that interest income, unallocated other income,
corporate and administrative expenses, other operating income,
finance costs and income tax expense are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances, restricted bank
deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other borrowings, lease liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted at cost plus a
certain percentage of mark-up.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z - hAF=F=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued) 6. REQEEN (&)
Segment revenue and results DEWAREE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_T-RFE=HA=1+—HLEE
Coke Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary  Production Eliminations Total
HRES RKAARNE EREE Eafi @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET TET

Segment revenue: SEHRA
- external sale — HIMEE 34,230 - - - 34,230
Total mst 34,230 - - - 34,230
Segment results NEEE 45 - - - 45
Unallocated other income FAREMBA 1
Compensation income BERA 19,554
Corporate administrative expenses (Notg) ‘A TTENRIS (H1:2) (17,943)
Finance costs B HA (31,144)
Loss before tax BB E (29,487)
Income tax expense FERES =
Loss for the year AEEBE (29,487)
I
Corporate
Coke Coal-related Coke and

trading ancillary  production unallocated Total
ExES BxIEHNE EREE ARARKRAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT FERT FERT FERT
Segment assets DEEE 54 - 1,665,374 145,471 1,810,899
Segment liabilities NEaRE - - - 769,709 769,709

Other segment information: Hitv &R .
Additions of property, plant and equipment  RE¥)E FiE KRR E - - - 5 5
Depreciation neE - - - 1,497 1,497
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued) 6. REQEEN (&
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DHEWARES (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE_Z_NMFE=-B=+—HIEE
Coke  Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary production  Eliminations Total
EREBS BRIEHENE EREE HH 4t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FHET FHET FHET

Segment revenue: SERA
- external sale — HHMEE 2,403 - - - 2,403
Total izt 2,403 - - - 2,403
Segment results NEEE 3 - - - 3
Unallocated other income FAREMBA 274
Compensation income BERA 22,416
Corporate administrative expenses (Note) ~ ‘AT{TEEIS (Hfst) (27,327)
Finance costs FEEA (31,105)
Loss before tax BRIAIESE (35,739)
Income tax expense FERES -
Loss for the year FFEFE (35,739)
I
Corporate
Coke  Coal-related Coke and
trading ancillary production unallocated Total
HERES BRGNS FREE AARKXDE iast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Segment assets DEEE 1,719 - 1684584 140,882 1,827,185
Segment liabilities AR - - - 742,122 742,122
Other segment information: Hitv &R .

Additions of property, plant and equipment  RE ¥ BiE KRR E - - - 2,959 2,959
Depreciation wE - - - 2,953 2,953
Note: Unallocated corporate administrative expenses mainly include Wizt (R DR AT S FE 654 E
corporate’s staff cost and Directors’ remuneration, legal and BB TR AR EZZHN L ERE
professional fee, PRC local tax and depreciation of unallocated EE A E TR R R 2 B

property, plant and equipment. E BB R SR HIHTEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is all
derived from the PRC. The revenue information is based on
the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

KENEEN (&

wEER

(a) KESIEELEZHKA
2yEE R WA ZEIRE
R WA BRLIRBE R FTE

125 o

b) FRBEE

2025 2024
“E"RE B O4E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Hong Kong E5E 1,260 2,752
The PRC =8| 1,665,374 1,684,584
1,666,634 1,687,336
The non-current asset information is based on the locations BRERHEEENIREES
of the assets and excludes financial instruments and EFffEtEs D BEXRaiEsm
deferred tax assets. TAMBIERIBEE ©
Information about major customers ERTEERZER

Revenues from external customers individually contributing 10%
or more of the total revenue from the Group are as follows:

RENBER ZWABR EMAEER
RBUTABIT10%BL L EBYIBRIN T ¢

2025 2024

—ECRSF BT OE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A ZEA 14,967 -
Customer B =ZFB 14,765 1,533
Customer C ERC 4,498 870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

7. REVENUE, COMPENSATION INCOME AND OTHER
INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the value of
services rendered during the year. An analysis of revenue,
compensation income and other income and gains, net are as

WA~ #6 18 U A DU T EL A U A Tz Uk
o B

WA FEEEREY 2 FERE
B NREEREBEREZITH) M2
AR Z B E o WA~ FRE WA LK
AR AR W > FERZ DT

Note:

@)

In 2019, the Group paid a trade deposit of US$22,000,000 to
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology Company Limited* (Ll7i%
EHERFIEERAE]) (‘Energy Technology’) for the coke
trading business. However, due to the downtrend of international
coke price, both parties agreed to terminate the plan and Energy
Technology agreed to refund such trade deposit by instalment with
compensation to the Group. Upon the completion of the acquisition
of a new subsidiary, Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co., Ltd* (1|75
TEREREEEREFAE) (“Energy Jiarun’), on 18 January
2023, Energy Technology became a non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary of the Group.

* For identification purpose only

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

follows:
2025 2024
“E"RE B O4E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Revenue A
Sales of medium coal and coke THE IR R E R 34,230 2,403
34,230 2,403
The revenue is recognised at AR B8 — P R B T 53
a point in time
Compensation income (Note a) wEWA (Hfita) 19,554 22,416
Other income and gains, net H A R > 7558
Interest income from bank deposits IRITERZFEIA 1 1
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE - BEKHKE 2 W E
plant and equipment - 270
Sundry income B A - 3
1 274

@ RIFE—NF FEFHEKXE
SEXEBUALTEEBEREER
RE (TEERFIE) S 1EZ#E
22,000,000 7T © 2877 » H1 13 EG B A&
IR1BHE T B &5 [RS8 512 BE
TR [ B ) 7N 5 B 7 HE 2R [6] 5 B
B ST # R E o TR —
BRI A RE A
REFERE (TFETRER) % 5ERFE
BR_E_ZF—-HA+N\AKBEE
EF— B 2 BRI IR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

(@) As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group had no
forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the

pension schemes in future years.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBAHZ
2025 2024
—TTRF =S 0=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Interest expenses on other borrowings  EifE &> #] S % 28,275 28,352
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaBEzMEME 116 95
Imputed interest expenses on amount  FE(S— BRI B AT RIEZ
due to a former subsidiary HEH SR 2,753 2,658
31,144 31,105
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI ARS8
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBZBRRAIBEZINRE GtA)
THEERES
2025 2024
“E-REF =S 0=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN & 950 950
Cost of inventories FERE 34,185 2,400
Depreciation e
- Owned — BA 17 60
- Right-of-use assets — EREEE 1,480 2,893
Employee benefit expense (including BERMHEX
Director’s remuneration): (BEESEMS) :
— Wages and salaries — TENH® 9,553 10,036
— Pension scheme contributions — BRIRENET B HR
(Note a) (Htata) 158 189
Total employee benefit expenses BEERMMEZAEZE 9,711 10,225
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE - BEKKEZ W E
plant and equipment = (270)
Note: HizE :

@ R-E_AF-H=4+—HR_-ZF
ZHFE=H=+—H KEEHIF
5] B (E 711 8 7k 2K 4F B 1K 75 7| 51 21

BNz BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(@), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

10. EEE
BB LHRW - FELIEHE
383(1)@)~ (o)~ C)xMfE R T HEE
ENZER) RAFH B AREE
BEREHMMOT :

2025 2024

—EARE B OE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THET

Fees Be 3,286 3,446

Other emoluments: HARN % -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REYER

in kind 3,096 3,096

Pension scheme contributions BRIRBHET B 36 36

3,132 3,132

6,418 6,578

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= H

e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E _ZE _HF=A=+—HIFE

10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2025

10. EFM=E @)

BE_ZE_AF=RA=+—HILEE

Salaries and
allowances and

Pension
scheme Total

Fees benefit in kind contributions  remuneration
e MR RIKEF
ik BMET SRR “as
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET THET
Executive directors YiTES
Zhao Xu Guang B 780 3,096 18 3,894
Wang Yijun IEE 984 - 18 1,002
1,764 3,096 36 4,896
Non-executive directors ~ JFHITES
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick =D 276 - - 276
Huang Man Yem (Note j BN E (Wat) 276 - - 276
Jiang Jiansheng (Note i) ZBE (W) 360 - - 360
Fong Man, Julisa (Note i) 78 (i) 70 - - 70
982 - - 982
Independent non-executive BEiIIFHITES
directors
To Wing Tim, Paddy (Note j) X7 (#52i) 180 - - 180
Lam Hoy Les, Laurie (Note j)  #kBEF| (#fai) 180 - = 180
Wang Wei Hsin (Note ) T4 (Bia) 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Total st 3,286 3,096 36 6,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 10. EEME (&
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE_Z_NFE=-B=+—HIEE
Salaries and Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees benefit in kind contributions remuneration
e Rk RIREF
e BYEF SHEIHR KR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FER TEx FE
Executive directors YiTES
Zhao Xu Guang iz 780 3,096 18 3,894
Wang Yijun IXE 984 - 18 1,002
1,764 3,096 36 4,896

Non-executive directors ~ JFHITES

Wong Siu Hung, Patrick = 276 - - 276
Huang Man Yem BXE 276 - - 276
Jiang Jiansheng EZE%E 360 - - 360
Tang Ching Fai (Note iv) BAENE (W7t 230 - - 230

1,142 - - 1,142

Independent non-executive BEiIIFHITES

directors
To Wing Tim, Paddy KR 180 - - 180
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MEAF 180 - - 180
Wang Wei Hsin TH#E 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Total fact 3,446 3,096 36 6,578
Notes: Bt .
(i) Resigned on 16 June 2025. (i RZIEZHENFFNHEFHE
(i) Passed away on 9 June 2025. (i) R -EZAHENAAHGEM
(i) Appointed on 31 December 2024. (i) RZEZF+ZFA=+—HEZ
/f o
(i) Resigned on 23 January 2024. () RZEZPYFE—F Z+=HE T
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emolument BE_S_hER_ZT_NE=R
of any director was waived or agreed to be waived and no =t+—HIEFE BREENENR
emolument was paid by the Group to any director as an ERETMME  mAEEGRREE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation ME R A EA SR MAR
for loss of office. SEEHMAKRER R BT BER A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= H

e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals during the year included two
Directors (2024: two), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining three (2024: three) highest paid individuals are as
follows:

11.

AamE#HmAL

FAEEZIBRBHALTEEMS
EX(CZIFE: M%)  H#FMF
BEN EXWE10- RFEGF T =4
(Z2TMF  =R) &eFALZ

FBfsFEWT

2025 2024
—EZRE “ET O
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind #7% ~ 2R R EMEF] 1,609 1,442
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFIET B 47 54
1,656 1,496

The emoluments of the individual fall with the following bands is as HENAFTAEE AT -

follows:
Number of employees
EE#EB

2025 2024
“E"hHE “ET O
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 31,000,000 #7T 3 3
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emolument
was paid by the Group to any of the above three (2024 three)
highest paid individual as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

HE_Z_HAFEERZZEZMAFE=A
=+—HIEEE > KEBHEREMA
tt=% (ZC2E_WEFE . =4 &S
FATZ (RS EASEMA K
EEMNA AR EE % 2 52 E) ol BER 45

Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FREIRAX
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as there were HREBLEERREF WHREE
no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the years TETHERCECNE=ZR=+—
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. AILEFETEREBNSRARE
o
The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is BREAPEER ZFEREEUIRTT
calculated at the applicable tax rates of 25% on the estimated BREM -ZRREREMNAER 2R
assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation, KEEGFTRRR AN 225%HEAH
interpretations and practices. No provision was made as there EetEH o AR PR EEFR AR
were no assessable profit arising in PRC during the years ended WREBE S _AFA_ZTMOF=
31 March 2025 and 2024. B=1+—HIFELEEREE-
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_T-RFE=A=1+—HLEE
Hong Kong The PRC Total
A HE Mt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
Loss before tax BRI AIES 1R (29,457) (30) (29,487)
Tax at the statutory tax rate WEEREHEZRE (4,860) () (4,868)
Tax effect of income not taxable and BAFRREBAK
expenses not deductible AAMMNBEZ 2R
T 4,860 8 4,868
Tax expense RIEREE - - -
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE_Z_NFE=R=+—HLEEFE
Hong Kong The PRC Total
BV H fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTET FTHEx
Loss before tax iR 18 (35,671) (68) (35,739)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMEHBEZRNE (6,836) (17) (6,909)
Tax effect of income not taxable and BAFREBAK
expenses not deductible AR A 2 1%
T 5,886 17 5,903
Tax expense RIERFY - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

12,

13.

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding tax on
dividends distributable by the subsidiary established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

No deferred tax liability has been provided as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$29,484,000 (2024:
loss for the year of HK$35,732,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 290,373,235 (2024: 289,895,093) in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 and, therefore,
the diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for
the year.

DIVIDEND

The board of Directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

12.

13.

14.

FRISIRFES (&2

HREIF B 2B R R D EE R

RE R E 2P SH0A » BB IL
BN EREEEDBINGEEFMEIK
R B BBMI0%TENR - BRAKRE
ATETNFE-B—HEEN 1E
BAR-ZEZtHF+_-_RA=+—HZ
BHEF - HPEEEIMNTEENT
EREFTIMBIRA AR EZAR
BHENRE AEENBERARES
10% ° L > A S B AR 5 A 32
B ARR —EENF-—B—HE
EERNEN D IKE RSB MR
o

RIZEZHEF=ZAR=+—HKZ
“MME=ZA=+—H  LELIE
BERFHER-

L%ﬁ

EREE

BREXNEE

ENTEE ANELESREREGELR

BARNBHAE A NEBLEAEEZBBY

29,484,0008 Tt (ZE_NF : £

E5$835,732,00087T) ' URAEAFELD

éﬂ‘ﬁ%‘ FE N #E 15 $4290,373,2350%
ZE U4 : 289,895,09308) 5HHE ©

SR#BEHE

BE_Z_AGFR-_F_NF=RA
=+—HIEFE ARFWEETH

BEREk HAFESREBEERA
SREXEEMER-

2
EBEEEIFEZRVBEE_ZE 1=
B=Z+—HLEEEZAMKRE (ZF
TV ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME - -BEKRRE
Other
properties
leased for
own use
carried Leasehold Computer Furniture Motor  Construction
atcost  improvement equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in progress Total
BRE5EZ
HEfFERZ
Rtz HENEUR BHRE  GRRKE i HEIR i
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEn TEn TEn Tin FiEn
Cost i
At 1 April 2023 RZZZ=ENA-H 5773 1,663 63 410 3739 1,776,167 1,787,805
Addtions HE 2,959 - - - - - 2,959
Disposal e - - - - (B44) - (644)
Transfer B (5,779 - - - - - (5,779
Bxchange realignment EREE - - - - - 91,589) (91,583)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 Apr 2024 RZE-MEZR=+-RHk
“ZTRmEMA-H 2,959 1,653 63 40 3,095 1,684,584 1,692,764
Addtions hE - - 5 - - - 5
Bxchange realignment ERBE - - - - - (19,210) (19,210)
At 31 March 2025 RI2ZHRE-R=+-H 2,959 1,653 68 40 3,095 1,665,374 1,673,559
Accumulated depreciation and EHITERHE
impairment
At 1 April 2023 RIBZ=ENA-H 3127 1,653 6 406 3,700 - 8,892
Cherge for the year KEEZH 2,893 - 19 2 39 - 2,953
Disposal e - - - - (644) - (644)
Transfer 2z (5,779) - - - - - (5,773)
M 31 March 2024 and 1 Aprl 2024 RZE-MEZR=+-AR
“ZTRERA-H 41 1,653 2% 408 3,005 - 5428
Charge for the year REEY 1,480 - 15 2 - - 1497
M 31 March 2025 s o 1,72 1,653 4 40 3,005 - 6,925
Carrying amount REfE
At 31 March 2025 RI2ZRE-R=+-H 1,282 - 2 - - 1,665,374 1,666,634
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=B=+-H 2,712 - 3 2 - 1,684,584 1,687,336




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. M¥ -BERSE (&
Right-of-use assets ERESE
Disclosures of lease-related items: HERFABEENIEE
2025 2024
“E"hREF =T Og
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THET THET
Land and buildings TR IEF 1,232 2,712
2025 2024
—E-RHE —ZNE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ FREEEZITEXH
— Land and buildings — T RIEF 1,480 2,893
Lease interests HEHE 116 95
Total cash outflow for leases HEIRE M AE%E 1,518 2,999
Additions to right-of-use assets THEEERE = 2,959

The Group leases various land use rights, land and buildings.
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

FEFRHERBIMERE LK
BF - HEMZEZEEHMREBEER2
F-HERREENEREE  EF
BERBEARER G - HE =
BAmmERRZE BREEERT
REfEEZ R me
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 16. EAAEHAEEZZEHMEE

OR LOSS
2025 2024
—EZRE BT OE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Private club debenture — fair value MABES — RIE
measured at quoted price in active mZREFEZ2ANE
market 1,508 1,508
Detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement FHIBE 2 AREFSEREEZHME
of the items above are set out in note 32 to the consolidated RE N S R ERMEE320
financial statements.
17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. B EURERT
2025 2024
—E-HE —mopuE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Trade receivables: B EIERR
— third parties —%E=5 - 975
— non-controlling shareholder of a ——RM B B IFIEREER
subsidiary (Note 19) H1z%19) 54 744
54 1,719
Less: Loss allowance BB IRE A = -
54 1,719
Less: Current portion B - BERER (54) (1,719)
Non-current portion JEBNHEAER - -
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance) RREFER BEELHETNE
by invoice date at the end of the reporting year is as follows: SIEWERT NrREEEH) 2 BRES D
T
2025 2024
—E-REF —EmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 3 months = (EYENA - 1,719
3 to 4 months —ZENEAR - -
Over 4 months mEA M 54 -
54 1,719
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. BSEWIER (&
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss EHAEEERNEERRKESE
allowance for trade receivables are set out in note 33(b) to the BRI B ERENER N GG
consolidated financial statements. H]RFRMIFE33(0) ©

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. FE{J:hIE - R EHMEUERER

2025 2024
ZEZhHE 2T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Prepayments, deposits and other FEWE = 2 FaaIE
receivables due from third parties W R H A FEUR AR FR 25,206 26,090

Trade deposits and other receivables BERRE 2 BZEE K

from Energy Technology (Note 19) HMEWERR (15%19) 174,136 166,398
Less: Loss allowance B IR (58,314) (568,314)
141,028 134,174
Less: Current portion B BNEREE Y (141,028) (134,174)
Non-current portion JEENHEAZR - -

19. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING 19. FEW—RIMiB AR IEERIGERIE
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

2025 2024
—E-REF —EmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Trade receivables (Note 17) (Note a) B EURERRR (Wat17) (Hifata) 54 744
Trade deposits and other receivables BERRE 2 BZHER
from Energy Technology (Note 18) HEMEWERR (H75#18) 139,820 132,082
139,874 132,826
Less: Current portion B BDEREE (139,874) (132,826)
Non-current portion JEENHEAZR - -
Note: Mzt -
(a)  The balances are trade in nature and non-interest-bearing. (@) BEBXZMERTE -
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AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. REKRIRITERE
2025 2024
—E_REF —ENE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Cash and bank balances RERIRTHERF 1,675 2,448

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

21. TRADE PAYABLES 21.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RTTRERENSHRTERMEN
FEA R BREF B o 18 F A& E R
ReFXFEHNF—BE=BARLT
FHRERERER LIZEEE
HAE R A R BREH] B - R1THE =
FRELATLEENEELBERY 5
AYERTT o

B 5 IR

RBREFER REZHHFAEZE
ZERMRMZARE DTN ¢

2025 2024

—ERE —EmE

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FET

Within 3 months —EAR - 1,715

22. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 22

HthEAIRR Bt ERAREWIR

RECEIVED £l
2025 2024
—E-REF —EmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Other payables and accrued charges ~ HftE(I IR EST & 27,847 23,347
Interest payable FEGF S 103,478 75,203
Amount due to a former subsidiary R —E R AT IE 60,190 58,123
191,515 156,673
Less: Current portion B BRERER (152,513) (109,017)
Non-current portion JERNHAZR 39,002 47 656
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

23.

OTHER BORROWINGS

23. HitEE

2025 2024
ZECERE “EoMmE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BIEFIE (%) 5 TET BERAZE) i)t TAET
Unsecured other borrowings ERIRFEMBEE On demand On demand
(Note &) (Wita) 12% BEX 200,000 12% BHEX 200,000
Unsecured other borrowings EIRFEMEE 2020 2020
(Note b) (Hrztp) 0% ZBIZE 18,188 0% —E-TF 18,188
218,188 218,188
218,188 218,188
Analysed into: viLir: N
Within 12 months TZEARR
or on demand BEK 218,188 218,188
218,188 218,188
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

23. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

@

®)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the lender and the
Group entered into memorandum of understanding on the default
interest payment. According to memorandum of understanding, the
event of default was removed upon the settlement of outstanding
interest and default interest on 23 March 2021. Thus, the maturity
date of the Group's other borrowing of HK$200,000,000 is in 2022.
The lender has requested immediate payment on the borrowing and
accrued interest.

With reference to the Company's announcement dated 18 June
2024, the Company received a second statutory demand from
the legal representative of a creditor demanding the Company to
pay the outstanding borrowing of HK$200,000,000 with accrued
interest, within 21 days after the service of the statutory demand,
failing which a winding-up petition against the Company may
be presented by the lender. With reference to the Company's
announcement dated 8 August 2024, 16 October 2024, 11
December 2024, 5 February 2025, 12 February 2025, 9 April 2025,
8 May 2025 and 9 June 2025, the Company received a winding-
up petition (the “Petition”), which was filed against the Company
on 2 August 2024 at the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region by its creditor (the ‘“Petitioner”) for the
winding up of the Company under the provisions of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32
of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company has now kept active
and good communication with the Petitioner, and, making efforts to
procure the withdrawal of the Petition as soon as possible, through
renegotiating the terms on loan settlement agreement with the
Petitioner to a certain extent.

At 31 March 2025, included in other borrowings were loans
from a former Director, who resigned on 7 September 2018, of
HK$1,751,000 (2024: HK$1,751,000) and a Director of GRG
Huscoke (Shan Xj) Ltd. of HK$3,195,000 (2024: HK$3,195,000).

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

23.

Hthg & (&
Hiat
@ BE_ZFE_—F+_FH=+—HIF

®)

FE BN REERGIERF S
I FRET 1L 35 BR 155 B o IR 75 5 B 15
iR ENEHAR CE - —F=H
A = HEER TR B RENFE
BWAUH o FUL > KEBHRMEE
200,000,0008 7w ZE - _F 7
B o BANBERTNZ(IEERE
EHFS

IR A A F] H R 2 = F ZV94Fx
A+ NBZAE KRAGKEE#E
NZEBREBZHZE W ETE
KEEE  BRALNEGREECE
RIEEZEEZ HES21HAZ T
B K 1B B 7#200,000,000:8 77 2 5]
JEFIE R FESZ AT B A BT5E
BIEH AT H KGR EER 2 55 0 %%
JEI KA G HEA - FE _MENHA
NANZZEZpgFE+A+ A ZF
—E+ B+ —H - FE_ALF
—AEAE_FEFE_HFA+ A
ZECAFANANZEZAF
EANAR-_ZE_FZFENANHZ
NE KRG IFEFHKEAEZE
B2 ((Z2E) Z2FR_-F
ZHENAZHHABREREA (T255
A1) BEBERTITHESZ %7 E
o BRIRIES B ZBBE2E (4 5]

CEEER HEIENE) 154 ) BIE X A5
KB FE o KAFIEHZFZANR
BB RIFHY B EEHEZAN
B BB EAAEGZEER W B
iG—E# R B @EZEFE
R HIE] o

RCE_AF=ZH=+—H A
BEEBE—ZHFEER (KR -F—/1
FAF T HEH) ZER1,751,0008
7T (ZEZP94F 11,751,000 7T) B
UATENEERERAG—FHE
EZE#3,195,0008 7 (—ZFE -9
£F 1 3,195,000785T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting year:

At 31 March 2025

24. HERRE

RZE-aFE=A=1+—H

Minimum lease

TRITRTEBRRREFRZEAESR
BZHTENEHA

payments Interest Present value
REHRE T FE RE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT AT AT
Not later than one year —FZR 1,400 (30) 1,370
At 31 March 2024 RZIZEZME=A=+—H
Minimum lease
payments Interest Present value
RIEREMR Gil)s! RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Not later than one year —FZR 1,518 (116) 1,402
Later than one year and BR—EERER
not later than two years M 1,400 (30) 1,370
2,918 (146) 2,772
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—ERE =it
=BA=+—H =B=4+—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAET
Current liabilities mENaE 1,370 1,402
Non-current liabilities EREEE - 1,370
1,370 2,772

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied
to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is 5.9% (2024: 5.9%).

RizaHBR AR ZHEAE
FrfEFR Z N9 &R A EE SR
KA 9% (ZE YL : 5.9%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E _Z _HF=A=+—HIFE
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25, g7
No. of ordinary
shares HK$’000
ZiEiEE FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ &MRET1E0.10 E0.2 ZE/R
Authorised: VERE -
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, é_g__imﬁ H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 “EIWFE=A=+—H"
“EOMFEPA—HK
TECTRFE=R=+—H 4,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE !
At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FlH—H 287,071,349 28,707
Issuance of authorised ordinary =S :_fﬁﬁﬁ +mH
shares on 24 May 2023 (Note) BITAELBR 0:t) 3,301,886 330
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 A ZEIWNFE=ZBA=+—8"
and 31 March 2025 :E_EEEE—E&
—ETHEF=BA=+—H 290,373,235 29,037
Note: Hat

On 24 May 2023, 3,301,886 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each have been
issued by the Company at a price of HK$0.212 per share for service
received. Premium on the issue of shares, amounting to approximately
HK$370,000, was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

=y =~ By o i o e Y= N ¥ 7 8
FrERRIAR7 » #7173,301,886/R & /% [El
BB0.187T BRETERB0.21287T

GEBIG o I TTIREFTEE LY 184975
370,000/ » E5t A KR GBI R 15 15 18
AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

26. RESERVES 26. f#fE
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during KNBIEBERAFEZEEFEFBUW
the year are as follows: T
Capital
Share Contributed Special redemption Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
i Bttt HARE HRlGE REBERHE RitEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER TER TER TER TER
Note (a) Note (b)
i) Ft (o)
At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FME—H 346,554 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,414,552) (318,957)
Loss for the year and total FEEHBERAEE
comprehensive expense SHEFZEE
for the year - - - - (16,898) (16,898)
Issuance of new shares (Note 25) 47315 (H1:#25) 370 - - - - 370
At 31 March 2024 and RIE-m&
1 April 2024 ZB=+-BR
“ETNENE—H 346,924 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,431,450) (335,485)
Loss for the year and total FEEBERAEE
comprehensive expense SHEFAZEE
for the year - - - - (14,712) (14,712)
At 31 March 2025 RZE_R&
=A=+—H 346,924 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,446,162) (350,197)
Notes: Wtat :
(a)  The contributed surplus represents the excess of the value of @ WREBREZE—INN—FLFLIE
shares converted upon conversion of the 2008 Convertible Bonds 40(1)1FE > A BEBFIER IR _FZE/N
and 2019 Convertible Bonds over the nominal amount of the FO G RIEH R —F— L FrJ R
ordinary shares issued pursuant to section 40(1) of the Bermuda EFFRRZREGEHEZE T
Companies Act 1981 and the credit arising from the capital EZEREE EHERERNEHEL
reorganisation. AR
(b)  The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal (b) R EIEHT B L B KA

value of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date when the shares
were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisition.

R17EHZ R E EHEK L E L
FEEZTTR BB ZEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

27. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- 27. S8 EAXKIEIERESEZIEZEME

CONTROLLING INTERESTS AT
BEEAFZERES > AEBNBA
B BEHIMT

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Energy Jiarun

164

AERE=E
2025 2024
—_E_RE “EBpE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Percentage of equity interest held by RREBIZ IEERER
non-controlling interests FrsR B D LE
at the reporting date 10% 10%
2025 2024
—ERE k=L
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Loss for the year allocated DEEEFFERER Y
to non-controlling interests REERE 3) (7)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling 7 ¥R &5 B #8 > JE4Z R #E 2
interests at the reporting date REt#Eer 166,526 168,450
2025 2024
—EZRE =Sl ) = 2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue A 34,230 2,403
Other income and gains H A R - -
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (34,259) (2,469)
Loss for the year REEEIE (29) (66)
Total comprehensive expense AFEEZHEMZARLE
for the year (59,751) (59,788)
Current assets MBIEE 54 1,719
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,665,374 1,684,584
Current liabilities mEhak (165) (1,802
Non-current liabilities JEREIERE - -
Net cash flows from operating activites 2R B S EFK 2 IR RS540 (1) 1)
Net cash flows from investing activities 2REREXHK 2 IRE RS /FEE - -
Net cash flows from financing activites RERIEXEH 2 IRERE/F58 - -
Net increase in cash and cash RERIREEEBYILMNFEE
equivalents (1) (1)

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities which have not been provided for in
these financial statements.

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with related

28.

29.

HARER

TR CRER-IFIMEZA
=+—H  AERTERNIMBER
RPBHZENERRAAR-

BIRBMALTZR B

(@) FRILFGZEHFBREE MM
Pl 2 32 5 R g iR » A8
BN FEEERBALTE T

parties during the year: L7
2025 2024
- R 3 =Sl ) o= 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
With the non-controlling S B8 B) FEHE AR
shareholder of a subsidiary: BRE
Sales H & 14,765 1,533

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

Balances with the non-controlling shareholder at the
end of the reporting period are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

(b) ERRAEKA L ZKREIEEER
RERERREIFERRR 24
BREUI AR B MBI EE19 0

(c) HAEETETEBEASZEHM :

EFERHEMTIEZEERAER
rEEZMEUWT :

2025 2024
—E-RE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and e R REYER
benefits in kind 6,382 6,542
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFRIFTEIMHRR 36 36
6,418 6,578

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEEMNE 2 E— T EBEHNE
B FEIRRMEE100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4=

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

30. HRERTMEBRME

FLOWS
Change in liabilities arising from financing activities: MEEHELEZEEEE
Lease Other
liabilities borrowings Total
HEaE HtnfE & st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TAET
At 1 April 2023 2 = R 2,117 218,188 220,906
Changes from financing cash flows BEREMELEH (2,999) - (2,999)
Non-cash changes FREEE
- new lease entered —MEIHE 2,959 - 2,959
— interest accrued —EFFIE 9 - 9
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZIZ2ZME=A=+—H
RZZZNENAE—H 2,772 218,188 220,960
Changes from financing cash flows MERETEEE
Non-cash changes RS EE) (1,518) - (1,518)
—new lease entered —HEI e
— interest accrued —[EH 8 116 - 116
At 31 March 2025 A_E_REZR=+—H 1,370 218,188 219,558

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= H

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 31. EEREDZEMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RHREFR SEEMTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting year are as follows: o
2025 2024
—E-RE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Financial assets: TREE !
Financial assets at amortised cost BB AT R SRIEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREREMREEEY 142,757 138,299
Financial assets at fair value through BAREF AB@mZ &R/
profit or loss BE 1,508 1,508
144,265 139,807
2025 2024
“EZREF —ZT N4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Financial liabilities: TREE !
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBHER AT Rz EREE 411,073 379,348

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25% R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= H

ima MR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

32.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

32.

AREitE
ARBERRH
ARERRHBEMDBSRENS
PR 5252t B A A T MR L R
EAL A OER - FHA AT ER
BRAHARESREM BHAA
{E5H BT GE R 2 (S E 5 A A ES
SEEDE

B—REWAE AEERFEHHA
DESEREERBEIERT S
BYER1E CRASHE) -

F_EBWAE MEENEREREN
B ERNEAE (F—RAE
FEBYREFRIN) o

FZERAE  EEHEENFIEH
BN

AEENERAESNEENEEN
BREEH B AR = EFRZRE
BAKREL -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 32. AREFE #E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NRABEEZREE &
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2025 and RZE_RAFEFER_ZE-_NOFE=AH
2024: ST —HZAABEERRBERE
=
At 31 March 2025 RZE_a%=HA=+—H
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
RiER T EXF EXFH
ZiR{E Bz BRyE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(-8 (EZR) (B=E)
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TERT TERT FTERT
Description i
Private club debenture MABFES 1,508 - - 1,508
At 31 March 2024 RZE2_WE=B=+—H
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
ST | BARH
ZHE BRYE BRYE fast
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
E—B) BB E=B)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FTET FTET
Description i
Private club debenture MABRES 1,508 - - 1,508

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities

(2024: Nil).

REFE fEMEERTREMEM
S EEBREE_EzBEIEARNE
SAEBER REZEBIEBANEY

Z1ER (

“ETPUE ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. The Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies
other than functional currencies of the respective group
entities.

Certain of the Group’s liabilities are denominated in US$.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
the exposure of US$ against HK$. The Group considered
the impact on the equity and profit before tax from the
change in US$, exchange rate was nominal at the end of
the reporting year since HK$ is pegged to US$.

The Group does not have any hedging instruments
outstanding. The Group will constantly review the economic
situation and its foreign currency risk profile, and will
consider appropriate hedging measures in the future as may
be necessary.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
bank balances and restricted bank deposit, trade and other
receivables and deposits and amount due from the non-
controlling shareholder and its affiliates. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of
loss allowance, represents the Group’s exposure to credit
risk without taking into account the value of any collateral
held or other credit enhancements.

Cash and bank balances

The Group has limited credit risk with its deposits in
financial institutions, which are leading and reputable and
are assessed as having low credit risk. The Group has
not suffered any significant losses arising from the non-
performance by these parties in the past and management
does not expect this position to change in the future.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties and related parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. The Group limits its
exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing
maximum payment period.

33. RAMREEEERBEEK &)

(b)

=& AR
rEEGCERBREIBRERE
RIBTHEFRZRBRITER
B 5 REMBWERRRIEE R
EWIRIERRR A EBE AT
ME-BEEEECRUBEERR
THZEEERRTEER

MREM BRI RES 2R
BEZREE (NREBERER)
EAEEREEERR TR
TRAFBZEMNRAREE
s EL M5 A 8 SR FE I

BERIRITHTF
FEERFRNMBEBETZ TR
WEBZERMZEERRAR &
STRRBRIGEABEER
o AEEBRETEAZFAL
TRAMRZERNEKRIER M
EEERARKRZRNRTTGE
o

B 5B AR
AEEERCHEINEERY
ZEZAREABALETES
AEBZHRBAAREUE
ERMETES ZERIAE
RIEEZERERF AEEERIL
RRAOME LRI HAZRE
BERBWIRRZ EE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
due on credit. The credit period is generally O to 30 days.
Advances are required for certain customers. The Directors
consider that these arrangements enable the Group to
limit its credit risk exposure. As 31 March 2025, 100% of
the Group's trade receivables were due from the Group’ s
largest and the five largest customer respectively, there was
a significant concentration of credit risk. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. The Group did not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over the trade receivable
balances. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range
of clients and the trade receivables are categorised by
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date and has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each category based on
the past three years and adjusted for current and forward-
looking factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
estimate on future economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables. There was no change in the
estimation techniques or significant assumptions made
during the year.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 33. £RiEAMTIEEHERKE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERME &)

Trade receivables (Continued) B EKERR (&

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL
for trade receivables using a provision matrix as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 are summarised below:

At 31 March 2025

EMEERRRN S HE
SEoME=A=+—B#K
B 9816 9 B 7k B2 5 MO BR AR
th S AR BRI
mF

BWZE-_RE=A=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
L] 3 -E S BERE(E BREE EERE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET FTET
Not past due PSikE - - - No &
Less than 6 months LN NGE)E
past due - 54 - No &
More than 6 months HHAEIB6(E A
past due - - - No &
54 -
At 31 March 2024 RZE2ZWFE=A=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
REEEX BEREE BERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Not past due PSikE - 1,719 - No &
Less than 6 months LN NG E)E
past due - - - No &
More than 6 months HHAIB6(E A
past due - - - No &
1,719 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
The Group did not recognised loss allowance on the trade
receivables as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Other receivables and deposits

The Group considers that the other receivables and
deposits have low credit risk based on the debtors’ strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the
short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience on the debtors historical utilisation pattern of
deposits paid and the financial position of the counterparties
by reference to, among others, their management or audited
accounts, and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The
management of the Group considers the ECL of these
financial assets to be insignificant after taking into account
the financial position and credit quality of the counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not recognised loss
allowance (2024: HKS$Nil) on the balances. The movement
in the loss allowance for the balances during the year is
summarised below.

3B. eMEAREEEREREE (&)

(b)

S8R (&)

BERiR= REE (&

A CE_HEF=ZRA=+—H"'&
EEFRMEERBBEEEE (&
ETME FET) cREAEE
G BRI T

2025 2024

ZEZhHE ZZEITE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FAT

At beginning of the reporting period ¥R & HI#) 58,314 58,314
Increase in allowance BEE -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMWB AT - -
Exchange realignment bE A2 = -
At end of the reporting period RERESHR 58,314 58,314

Amounts due from the non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary and its affiliates

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there
is significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the amount due from the non-controlling
shareholder and its affiliates is credit impaired, the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience on the non-controlling shareholder and its
affiliates and their financial position with reference to their
management accounts and adjusted for forward-looking
factor, guaranteed amount in Guarantee Agreement
mentioned in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, in estimating the probability of default of the
amounts from the non-controlling shareholder and its
affiliates, as well as the loss upon default. The management
of the Group considers that the credit risk on the amounts
is significant, however, their ECL is considered to be
insignificant after taking into consideration of the above
factors.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the reporting period.

B IE 2 BRI R R A
BB EE

RSt RBAEEBE BRI RN E
EEERRESBVREDIE
K g 18 0 B FE U IR 45 g AR BR %
HtBARMEBERSHREER
AR REEDEBIFER
REKREBBABZUEER
EEERERKAEG BT
Ww2EHEERE IR ATHE
MR ERGEABEREE
(U047 & B 15 3R R MY 52 19F 4)
TR AT » LUL STIEIOR IR IR AR
REREBBEABRMIAZENR
KRUKREBNER AEEEER
B AEFTRZEERREE
Ko A B RUEERERER
HEPEEBEERRAB/ALRE
o

RAREE ERMHFLZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

33. ERMEMEEBRRER (&

Liquidity risk (c) FHEEZRAR
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEBECZEBRABBEREM
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of other EEMEEEZIHFEMHET
borrowings. EmE 2z BEE e
The maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group as RIREHR BN EFTAER
at the end of the reporting periods, based on the contractual BEYMzAEEBTHEE R
undiscounted payments, is as follows: BRAOT
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RFE=H=+—H
Within
1 year or
on demand 1 to 5 years Total
1ER5
BEKX 1E55 Mzt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET THT
Other payables, accruals HitEfiR B ER
and deposit received ReWEs 152,754 42,861 195,615
Other borrowings HEE 218,188 - 218,188
Interest portion of HtEENFEHD
other borrowings 18,016 - 18,016
Lease liabilities HEEaE 1,400 - 1,400
390,358 42,861 433,219

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

33. REAREEEHERBEER &)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) WEBEEKR &)
At 31 March 2024 AR NFE=A=+—H
Within
1 year or
on demand 1105 years Total
1ERH
BER 1255 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTET
Trade payables BREMRR 1,715 - 1,715
Other payables, accruals HitER iR B BB
and deposit received KEWEE 105,228 54,194 159,422
Other borrowings HitfdE 218,188 - 218,188
Interest portion of HtEENH S8
other borrowings 18,016 - 18,016
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,518 1,400 2,918
344,665 55,594 400,259
Capital management (d EBEXEE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

AEBEAEEZBEER R
HERAEEAGRBECEZE
7 BMFRBZERLER Y
XFHHEBEF FRRAZRK
REE-

AEBRBRE BRI E8 X
HEEEZRRBEE B1EH
BERGEETIEHBE BER
NEEEARGEE AEEAE
BEERIIKEZRE @KRE
IKElZ BEARFETHR -REE
TECHER_E_NE=R
—t+—HIEFE UEEREIER
BEARAZBE -BEKHERF-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continuead)

(d) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade payables, other payables, accruals and
deposits received, other borrowings, lease liabilities and tax
payable, net of restricted bank deposits and cash and bank
balances. Capital includes equity attributable to owners
of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
respective reporting periods were as follows:

33. T FE R

(d)

T EEERKREE (&)

BAXERE (B
FEBERBEBIEGRUES
MaEFBEABEZERLERE
REANR - EHFREEFEHN
RERHRITERUARRER
RTHEEFRZEZEMERH
fhFEAT IR FE ST E AR B
T HMEE HEaENUKE
RBE-BEXBERATEAA
ElERE - REBZHRERRZ
BIRELERWMT ¢

2025 2024
kS - =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Trade payables B2 BT RRAR - 1,715
Other payables, accruals and HhERR - FESTE R
deposit received gl giisn 191,515 156,673
Other borrowings HEE 218,188 218,188
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,370 2,772
Tax payable FE{IRIE 358,636 362,774
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIRITER (1,675) (2,448)
Net debt B3 %8 768,034 739,674
Capital — equity attributable to BR—AKREHEEB A
owners of the Company FE{L e 874,664 916,613
Capital and net debt BEAKRGH R 1,642,698 1,656,287
Net gearing ratio AR 47% 45%
(e) Fair value (e) 2HnfE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and FEMBRRRAFTHAE

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEBRREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RAFE=A=+—HIEE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

KRB ZHBIRRR

ERARBNRKRERARZHMHIRRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: HERNT :
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—ERE —EpFE
=BA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current assets MENEE
Prepayment, deposit and FENMIE TR
other receivables HihEUR R 225 324
Amount due from subsidiaries FEUS B BB A B 3R I8 41,937 24,240
Cash and bank balances BERIRITHET 81 77
Total current assets RENBEEREE 42,243 24,641
Current liabilities B R=Yi=]
Other payables, accruals and HMEARI B B8R &
deposit received EWiZs 119,685 91,310
Amount due to subsidiaries NI ENCIE S 43,718 39,779
Other borrowings HMEE 200,000 200,000
Total current liabilities mENB AL 363,403 331,089
Net current liabilities mEBERER (321,160) (306,448)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEMBERRSEE (321,160) (306,448)
NET LIABILITIES aEREE (321,160) (306,448)
Capital and reserves B K #E
Issued capital [SELRYSZN 29,037 29,037
Reserves (G (350,197) (335,485)
TOTAL DEFICIT EEat4agE (321,160) (306,448)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang
=) 5 i
Director

EF

N ZECHFRA=THEEESEH
BEREREM R THNEFAERRE
e

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick

HAEEE
Director

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE —ZE - RE=A=+—HIEE

35.

36.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 30 May
2025 and 9 June 2025, the Company actively engaged in
communication and negotiation with the Petitioner, China Cinda
(Hong Kong) Asset Management Company Limited, and has
reached a consensus on the terms of a settlement agreement
which is pending execution by the parties. However, the Petitioner
has informed the Company that, as a holder of preference
shares in Whole Advance Limited (“Whole Advance”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, it is currently adjusting
and renegotiating the terms of the preference shares with Whole
Advance (the “Adjustment”). While this Adjustment will not affect
the terms of the settlement agreement between the Petitioner and
the Company, nor is it a condition precedent for the effectiveness
of the settlement agreement, the Petitioner has requested that
the formal signing of the settlement agreement with the Company
take place after the completion of this Adjustment.

Currently, the winding-up petition hearing has been adjourned to
25 August 2025. Further announcement(s) will be made by the
Company to inform the Shareholders and potential investors of
the Company of any significant developments in relation to the
Petition as and when appropriate.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER AT

35.

36.

REHESEE
HMAANBRPEA_S_AERR
—tEARZE_RHFEANBAHBASG
FrieE  AATEH2FEAN—PEIEE
(&8 BEEEEARLADRBIGER
BB E AR R RS ER LR
ERNBRHELSEESHIEE-HE
BABEABIRYE  EEAKRAEE
BREREESEBRAE (681 2E%
IRRRER  EEE S S B ARIER
ETREMEMOT (TZBE)) -8
RZBEIAGFERFANEAERRT
BRI R B G0 TIER R R EE
MR G -BR 2BAERE
HANTBERNEENBRHZENREZR
BEZARTM B

FF FEZFRACERE_ZF
“HFENRBZTAH -ARTRMIE
HAEMZEFNERERNERER
KRBINBEREE LERFSTT
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HEM B R T
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

L FMFNE
Period from
1 January
2022 to
31 March
2023
RZE-—F
—B—HE
Y-
Year ended 31 March =F=1+—H Year ended 31 December
BE=B=1—HLEE HE HE+_A=+—-ALEE
2025 2024 2022/23 2021 2020
—E°TC
ZECRE —E-ME _=FE B C"EIEZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FhEx FET TER FEx
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREEY
Revenue WA 34,230 2,403 34,726 866,602 1,176,982
Cost of sales HERE (34,185) (2,400) (125,638) (753,868)  (1,050,092)
Gross profit/(loss) ETIVAES:) 45 3 (90,912) 112,734 126,890
Compensation income FEBA 19,554 22,416 41,367 8,703 14,130
Other income and gains, net HA KW 38 1 274 299,238 226,480 284,397
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBARN SR - - 1,693,981 - -
Selling and distribution costs HERDEMA - - (1,565) (1,417) (10,953)
Administrative expenses TER® (17,943) (27,327) (114,007) (99,920) (93,595)
Finance costs IR A (31,144) (31,105) (157,108) (113,936) (73,351)
Other operating expenses, net Ht SRS 258 - - (34,316) (154,157 (775,051)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRiRA (5518) /H (29,487) (35739) 1,638,678 (21,513) (527,533)
Income tax Frigi - - (387,817) (9,669) (4,999)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEE (5518) /5 (29,487) (35739) 1,248,861 (31,182) (532,532)
Attributable to: FEL
Owners of the Company EUNSIEEZPN (29,484) (35732) 1,350,163 (31,259) (484,675)
Non-controlling interests JEER R ®) @ 1,304 77 (47,857)
(29,487) (35,739) 1,248,861 (31,182) (532,532)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFERBHE
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 December

BEZA=1—HILLEE HE+-A=+—HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2021 2020
ZECRE “E-NE —E-=-fF E_-F "EB-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx TET FET AT
TOTAL ASSETS BEME 1,810,899 1,827,185 1,910,086 2,221,404 2,064,344
TOTAL LIABILITIES BERE (769,709) (742,122) (721104)  (2,379,496) 2,189,245
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/ (8 38 1,041,190 1085063 1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901)

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EARGBE AEGER
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 874,664 916,613 1,011,367 (144,233) (111,409)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  JEiERafézs 166,526 168,450 177,615 (13,859) (13,492)
1,041,190 1,085,063 1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901)
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DEFINITIONS
B&

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
REBRER  BFXEFSBPMEN THEEAEANEE !

“AGM”
MRERBERE)

“Annual Report”
MR

»

“associate(s)
Mg AL

“Board”

===

“Bermuda Companies Act 1981”

MBRE-NN\—FQFA

“Bye-Laws”
ASTEEIT

“CG Report”
MEEERRE]
“Company”

iN/NST

4

“Companies Ordinance’

INSIEESHIN

“Director(s)”

ME%)
“ESG Report”
MRIE T EREBRSE)

“Group”
MR&EE]

the annual general meeting of the Company
FABRTZRRBERS

this annual report of the Group prepared for the year ended 31 March 2025
REBMREBE S _AF=A=1+—HILFEZRFR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
B EHRBIFE T 2 BE

board of Directors of the Company

rRBEEE

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

(BRE-NN—FR8X) BFEEST MU= A Bk

the bye-laws from time to time adopted by the Company
PIN/NSI RN S AN

the corporate governance report contained in this Annual Report from pages 37 to
59
REIRBITELSIBFH 2 PEBEIARSE

Huscoke Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
whose issued Shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
MEERERAS REREZMNILZERAF  HEZHTRM NI ER
syl

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BB EGIFE622F (A BMERF ) » EREHERT ~ f sl A E At 5 B

the directors of the Company

RAFESR

the environmental, social and governance report contained in this Annual Report
from pages 60 to 103

NEIRFOEI0BMEZIRE - HEREARS

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB RHEKEAE
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DEFINITIONS
H&

“Hong Kong”
M&%)

“HK$U
b= 5aul|

“Listing Rules”
MR AL
“PRC”

MR

“RMB”
FAR®)

“SFO”
rE s R HA S 16

“Share(s)”
TR 17

“Shareholder(s)”
NIl

“Stock Exchange”
TBE 32 PAT

“subsidiaries”

B AR

“US$”
=

soy
M% ]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEAREMETBRITHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BB EEEREATT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended
from time to time)

B3 PrEE S EHRA (A KERD)

the People’s Republic of China, excludes Hong Kong and Macau in this Annual
Report
hEARHME AFRMS > FEEEERIRPT

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FREZEEEBARE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BB EOIET1E(FRHF KGR > ERRHEST ~ s U E A 5 HEeL

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
AT RAPEREECI10B T BiBK

holder(s) of the Share(s)
SV EST= DN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEMERZABERAT

a subsidiary (within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance or section 86 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981) for the time being and from time to time of the
Company

FABERRAEZMBAS BABMRANERE—NN\—FREEFS6HF L

E&E

United States dollars, the lawful currency of United States
EREZEEEEET

per cent

B
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